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This Annual Report contains forward-looking statetsewithin the meaning of Section 21E of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934. Such
forward-looking statements include, among othdrssé statements including the words “expects,’i€grdtes,” “intends,” “believes,” “may,”
“will,” “should,” “continue” and similar languagerdhe negative of such terms or other comparabieit®logy. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in the forward-looking statats are reasonable, HealthStream’s actual remajdiffer significantly from those
projected in the forward-looking statements. Factbhat might cause or contribute to such differengelude, but are not limited to, those
discussed in the section “Risk Factors” and elsegvirethis document. In addition, factors that we 1@ot currently aware of could harm our
future operating results. You should carefully esvithe risks described in other documents Heakda§irfiles from time to time with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. You are caadioot to place undue reliance on forward-lookitagesnents, which speak only as of
the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Hesitham undertakes no obligation to publicly releasgrevisions to the forward-looking
statements or reflect events or circumstances thitedate of this document.

Item 1. Business
OVERVIEW AND HISTORY

HealthStream, Inc. (“HealthStream” or the “Compgnytovides Internebased solutions and services to meet the traimdgeducation nee:
of the healthcare industry. HealthStream providesises to customers throughout the United StatdsGanada, focusing primarily on
healthcare organizations and pharmaceutical andcaletkvice companies. Within our healthcare orgations business unit (“HCO”), our
focus is on expanding HealthStream’s Internet-baggdication service provider, or ASP, e-learnimgducts and installed learning
management products to hospitals, long-term cadleoatpatient facilities. Services to healthcareaorgations are delivered through our
proprietary Internet-based learning products asthlled learning management products. Within oarptaceutical and medical device
company business unit (“PMD”), our focus is on pdivg services including live and online educaticavad training activities aimed at
healthcare professionals, as well as online trgifon medical industry sales representatives. Paaeutical and medical device companies
also provide commercial support for some of ourtioming education activities.

The Company was incorporated in 1990 and beganetiagkits Internebased solutions in March 1999. The Company evdikad an initial
focus of providing multimedia tools for informatiaiissemination to the full-service delivery of tisig and education for the healthcare
industry. We have established relationships witlomaealthcare institutions and companies to previdining solutions to meet the needs of
healthcare organizations, their employees and tlegidors. During 2000, we acquired Education Dedign, which expanded our product
offerings to pharmaceutical and medical device camigs.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

According to the Centers for Medicare and Medi@edvices (CMS), the healthcare industry represemt®ti4 trillion market in 2001, or
approximately 14 percent of the gross domesticycbdVe believe approximately 10.4 million professils are employed in this segment of
the domestic economy, including over 2.2 milliogistered nurses, 5.0 million allied healthcare @ssfonals (which include among others
approximately 800,000 emergency medical servicddfiest responder personnel and approximately ZEDr@diologic technologists),

2.4 million non-clinical employees and 600,000 pbiss. The Bureau of Labor Statistics reports@2that approximately 5.3 million of
these professionals work in hospital organizations.

The healthcare industry is a dynamic industry ottarazed by ongoing development of new therapetg@tments, procedures and
innovations in medical technology that togetheat#ea demand for related education and trainindyms. Government regulations and
accrediting bodies require employers to providdtheare professionals and other healthcare wonkélstraining on an increasing number
and variety of topics. This training includes spfehining mandated by both the Occupational Sadety Health Administration, or OSHA,
and the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Headtle Organizations, or JCAHO, for all institutiotased healthcare workers as well as
training on patient information confidentiality néged under the Health Insurance Portability andcAmtability Act (“HIPAA”). Staffing
issues and personnel shortages have also conttitutee need for enhanced workforce developmentedisas additional competency based
training. In addition, to keep abreast of the latesrelopments and to meet licensing, certificatiod credentialing requirements, many
healthcare professionals must obtain continuingation. Continuing education requirements includietiouing education for nurses,
emergency medical services and first respondeppages and radiologic personnel. Pharmaceuticalnaedical device companies must also
provide their medical industry sales representativith training mandated for the healthcare induasr well as training for new products.
Simultaneously, the healthcare industry continoegperate under intense pressure to reduce coateeasilt of reductions in government
reimbursement and increased participation of pttisnmanaged care programs. In addition, healéhoaganizations as well as
pharmaceutical and medical device companies arerurging operating costs, coupled with increasedgure to measure and report on the
outcomes of the dollars spent
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on training. Our products and services meet thesesby reducing healthcare organizations’ costiawfing while providing unique
opportunities for additional products or servicathim the healthcare industry.

HEALTHSTREAM'S SOLUTIONS
Services to healthcare organizations

HealthStream’s solutions are designed to meetitigeiag training, education and compliance reportiagds of healthcare organizations. We
bring training and education content together wadiministrative and management tools. This comtinailows healthcare administrators to
configure training to meet the precise needs dédkht groups of employees, modify training materéamd document that training has been
completed. Healthcare organizations are confrowitfdsignificant mandated and recurring traininguigements for continuing certification

of professionals and the requirements of individaailities.

Historically, we have provided our services throsgles of installed learning management produaisin the second quarter of 2000 we
began selling our Healthcare Learning Center (“H),.@&iat provides organizations with the abilityaimcess our training and continuing
education services over the Internet. Our traimragerial is hosted in a central data center thatvalend users Internet access to HLC
services, thereby eliminating the need for onsital installations of installed learning managenpntucts. The HLC also provides tools
enable administrators to configure and modify fragmmaterials, track completion and predict tragn@xpenses. Pricing for the HLC is
subscription based, with fees based on the nunfhesarss, content provided and other factors. Werdffining, implementation and account
management services to facilitate integration of thchnology product into the organization’s opiagaenvironments. Fees for training are
based on the time and efforts of the personnellviedo

Our installed learning management products areigeedvon a licensed basis, with pricing based omtivaber of employees, sites involved
and content provided. Installed software contragigally consist of an upfront license fee, aduill content sales and ongoing maintenance
and support.

In addition to our Internet-based HLC and instalksining management products, we also offer healéhorganizations with full-service
capabilities to convert existing course materiala ¥WWeb-enabled format or develop custom coursewaiging for these services is generally
based on time and efforts involved. Our developngenatip responsible for such services includes @mogrers, instructional and multimedia
designers, graphic artists, and project manageddition to our development employees, we aldiaeithird party resources as needed.

Our strategy is to expand our services to existugomers, grow our existing customer base of aqamately 580,000 subscribers using the
Internet-based HLC and converting our installedrza management product customers to our Intdsased HLC. We believe our existing
sales force and market conditions offer us the dppdy to continue to grow our HLC customer base.

Services to pharmaceutical and medical device compies

Our services to pharmaceutical companies and matbeice companies include online and live educati@nd training activities for
healthcare professionals, as well as online trgifin medical industry sales representatives. Sesvas an accredited provider of live
continuing education activities include planningyelopment, implementation and administration ekthactivities. These services further
include development of course agendas, coordinafieubject matter experts, preparation of couratenals, and registration of attendees.
Pricing for live activities and corresponding regation services are based on the scope of thegirancluding the size of the event, number
of attendees and other factors. Pricing for onfiaeelopment and activities also varies and is baseiime and efforts of the personnel
involved. Mandated training for manufacturer sdtese personnel is priced on a per user basis.

We also provide educational activities for nursed #chnicians conducted within healthcare orgdios, as well as continuing education
study guides and educational activities on thelakfioor at the annual AORN (Association of Pergative Registered Nurses) Congress.
All of these activities are supported by eithernpiaceutical or medical device companies. We propliBrmaceutical and medical device
companies with online development and trainingisessas well as Web cast events. Many pharmacéatidamedical device manufacturers
provide their employees or customers with intexactiaining. We have full-service capabilities #vdlop course materials to a Web-enabled
format for our customers through a dedicated dgeémt group. In some cases, these services indenEopment and sales of materials
distributed on CD-ROMs or via a specified Web site also offer both live and archived Web castnetlical procedures, thought-leader
discussions, and other events in a cost effectiaenar to facilitate the provision of training om¢imuing education. The Web cast event may
be supported by an educational grant by a pharntiaekar medical device company. Fees or the amofitite grant for Web cast events v
based on the scope of the event, the target awgipnblicity and other peripheral services reldtethe event.
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Our strategy includes expanding our revenues tpdudeveloping these relationships and by levaragur existing base of Internet-based
HLC customers for deployment of pharmaceutical medlical device training through both existing praduas well as development of new
products.

ACQUISITIONS

We have made seven acquisitions over the past yies and have focused on acquisitions that hddledaproducts or services, increasec
customer base and/or provided enabling technoldb&sare complementary to our existing business bélieve we have recognized
economies of scale through acquisitions in marketghich we already had a presence. In additionhaxe expanded our product and service
offerings by leveraging products that can operateur existing technology platform. Acquisitionsoleted during the last three years, al
which were accounted for using the purchase metfiadcounting, are as follows: de’MEDICI Systemde™™MEDICI") in January 2001;
SynQuest Technologies, Inc. (“SynQuest”) in Septen@®00; Education Design, Inc. (“Education Desjgn"July 2000; Emergency
Medicine Internetwork, Inc. d/b/a EMInet (“EMINetih January 2000; Multimedia Marketing, Inc. d/bi& the Healthcare Learning
Company (“m3”) in January 2000; Quick Study, If€Quick Study”) in January 2000; and KnowledgeRevi¢WC (“KnowledgeReview”)in
January 2000. For additional information regardecent acquisitions, please see Note 2 of the Qidased Financial Statements and Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations.”

CUSTOMERS

We provide our training and education solutionsustomers across a broad range of entities wittérhealthcare industry, including
healthcare organizations (including governmenties)i and pharmaceutical and medical device conegaiiihe following is a partial list of
customers that have purchased or contracted folupts and services from HealthStream.

Healthcare Organizations Pharmaceutical Companies Medical Device Companies
HCA Inc. Medicis Pharmaceutical Corporation Zimmer, Inc.
Banner Health Merck & Co., Inc. Medtronic, Inc.
CoxHealth

Trinity Health (Novi, MI)
SALES, MARKETING, AND CUSTOMER SUPPORT

We market products and services primarily throughdirect sales force. As of December 31, 2002 sales and relationship management
personnel consisted of approximately 35 employassdb at our corporate headquarters in Nashvillendssee and in Denver, Colorado, as
well as remote home office sales locations. Ouggashically dispersed field sales organizationivédéd into two groups: one is focused on
healthcare organizations and the other on salpkaomaceutical and medical device companies. Tidarsales personnel support the field
sales force by responding to initial inquiries, lifyang sales leads, preparing proposals and piegaales contracts. In addition to sales
professionals, we also employ program managers,amhoesponsible for live event services and worievelop and expand relationships
with pharmaceutical and medical device companies awticipate modest growth in our sales and relaligpp management personnel during
2003.

We conduct a variety of marketing programs to prmmour products and services, including produdlogs, trade shows, telemarketing
campaigns, public relations, distribution of prodsecific literature, direct mail, online promatiand advertising. We also conduct
geographically focused meetings with target custsraad user groups with existing customers.

We believe our ability to establish and maintaingéerm customer relationships, adoption of our préglacd services and recurring sales
dependent on the strength of our customer servideoperations team. Our customer service and stifggon consists of approximately

25 employees located in our corporate headquantétashville. This team provides customer suppmserid users through a toll-free
telephone line as well as electronic mail. Our espntatives are trained to understand our philosapt corporate culture and our specific
sales, marketing and support issues. This teamradiales our account management group that mame ongoing dialog with our
customer base to ensure a complete understandigstifmer needs. These personnel also assist mgthirg issues and training of our
products as well as to ensure anticipated retunachieved. The remaining personnel on this teamesponsible for training and
implementation of HLC customers.

TECHNOLOGY MANAGEMENT

Our technology infrastructure is based on an opehitgcture and is designed to be secure, reliatdeexpandable. Our software is a
combination of proprietary applications, third-padaitabase software and operating systems thabsuggjuisition and conversion of
content, hosting and management of that contebtiqagion of our Web sites, downloads of courseweeggistration and tracking of
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users and reporting of information for both intérawad external use. We have designed this infretra to allow each component to be
independently scaled by adding readily availablelvare and software components.

Our network infrastructure, Web sites and serveas deliver our services are hosted by a thirdygandvider. This provider maintains our
equipment in a secure environment, including migtipdundancies in power sources and network caiomsc Our provider’s hosting center
is connected to the Internet through multiple, rethnt high-speed fiber optic circuits. Monitorinfgadl servers, networks and systems is
performed by Company personnel on a continuousb@sgether with our provider, we employ numerals of firewall systems to prote
our databases, customer information and conteratriibBackups of all databases, data and contiestdre performed on a daily basis. Data
back-up tapes are archived at a secure remotedoaat a weekly basis.

COMPETITION

The healthcare education industry is highly fragteénvaries significantly in delivery methodse. , written materials, live events, satellite
broadcasts, video, CD-ROM products and online petejuand is composed of a wide variety of entitiesipeting for customers. The sheer
volume of healthcare information available to $gteontinuing education needs, rapid advances idicaédevelopments and the time
constraints that healthcare professionals face ntak#icult to quickly and efficiently access tlmntinuing education content most relevant
to an individual’'s practice or profession. Histatlyg, healthcare professionals have received caimgeducation and training through offline
publications, such as medical journals and CD-RQavig, by attending conferences and seminars. Iniaddother healthcare workers and
pharmaceutical and medical device manufacturetsssad internal regulatory personnel usually fiuffieir education and training needs
through instructor-led programs from external vasdw internal training departments. While thesgragches satisfy the ongoing
requirements, they are limited in that they arédgity costly and inconvenient. In addition, liveurses are often limited in the breadth of
offerings and do not provide a method for trackirggning completion. The related results of theaditional methods, both from a business
and compliance standpoint, are difficult to trackl aneasure.

In addition to the competing delivery methods diésar above, we also have direct competitors. A remolb smaller privately held compan
offer competitive installed and Web based learmrapmagement products to the healthcare industgddition, we also compete with large
scale learning management system providers suSkisoft, DigitalThink, SABA and Docent that pralé their services to multiple
industries, including healthcare.

We believe our solutions, which include both prddwand services that facilitate training for hegdtte professionals, a wide assortment of
content, a mechanism for measuring results andliigy to provide all services on a single platfoover the Internet, provide us with a
competitive advantage. We believe that the prifapepetitive factors affecting the marketing deasrning services to the healthcare
industry include:

. features of the HLC product, including reportingamagement functionality, scalability and the apild track utilization and resull

. scope and variety of Internet-based learningerdrdavailable, including mandated content for OSBBAHO and HIPAA
requirements, competer-based content, as well as the ability of entitieadd their own We-enabled conten

. scope and quality of professional services offeirgcluding training and the expertise and techlikonowledge of the providers’
employees

. ability to access and leverage an existing custdrase to increase exposure for pharmaceutical &ulical device companie
. pricing;

. customer service and suppc

. effectiveness of sales and marketing efforts;

e company reputatior
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GOVERNMENT REGULATION OF THE INTERNET AND THE HEALT HCARE INDUSTRY
The Internet

The laws and regulations that govern our businkaage rapidly. The United States government angdwernments of some states and
foreign countries have attempted to regulate ds/on the Internet. The following are some oféhielving areas of law that are relevant to
our business:

. Privacy Law.Current and proposed federal, state and foreigragyiregulations and other laws restricting thdection, use,
confidentiality and disclosure of personal inforimaatcould limit our ability to collect informatioar use the information in our
databases or derived from other sources, to generagnues. It may be costly to implement secorityther measures designed to
comply with any new legislatiol

. Encryption LawsMany copyright owner associations have lobbiedf¢lderal government for laws requiring copyrighteatenials
transmitted over the Internet to be digitally emted in order to track rights and prevent unausteatiuse of copyrighted materials.
If these laws are adopted, we may incur substatuists to comply with these requirements or chdhgavay we do busines

. Content RegulatiorBoth foreign and domestic governments have adagtelidoroposed laws governing the content of material
transmitted over the Internet. These include laalating to obscenity, indecency, libel and defaoratiWe could be liable if content
delivered by us violates these regulatic

. Sales and Use TaXhrough December 31, 2002, we collected salespusther taxes on taxable transactions in all stievhich
we have employees. While HealthStream expectshisapproach is appropriate, other states ordargirisdictions may seek to
impose tax collection obligations on companies likehat engage in online commerce. If they dagdtabligations could limit the
growth of electronic commerce in general and liouit ability to profit from the sale of our servioeger the Internet. The enactmi
of any additional laws or regulations may increasecost of conducting business or otherwise harnbasiness, financial
condition and operating resul

Laws and regulations directly applicable to e-comma@nd Internet communications are becoming mareatent. Recent sessions of
Congress enacted Internet laws regarding onlingragit infringement. Congress continues considelavgs regarding Internet taxation. The
dynamic nature of this regulatory environment iases the uncertainty regarding the marketplacedtrgiesuch regulation.

Regulation of Education and Training for Healthcare Professionals

Allied Disciplines Various allied health professionals are requirediitain continuing education to maintain their tises. For example,
emergency medical services personnel may be refjigracquire up to 20 continuing education hoursypar. These requirements vary by
state and depend on the classification of the eyeplo

Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSH OSHA regulations require employers to provide iragrto employees to minimi:
the risk of injury from various potential workplabazards. Employers in the healthcare industryeqaired to provide training with respect
to various topics, including blood borne pathogexggosure control, laboratory safety and tubercslipgection control. OSHA regulations
require employers to keep records of their emplsyeempletion of training with respect to these lwglace hazards.

Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare @rigations “JCAHO”). JCAHO mandates that employers in the healthcangsing
provide certain workplace safety and patient irtéoa training to employees. JCAHO required trajnimay include programs on infection
control, patient bill of rights, radiation safetydaincident reporting. Healthcare organizationsratpiired to provide and document training
these topics to receive JCAHO accreditation. Irtamtd JCAHO imposes continuing education requireta®n physicians that relate to each
physician’s specific staff appointments.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability A"HIPAA”) HIPAA regulations require organizations who maintar transmit health
information electronically to provide reasonablel appropriate safeguards to protect the integrity @nfidentiality of healthcare
information. Employers in the healthcare industey il@quired to establish, maintain and providenirag with regard to their policies and
procedures for protecting the integrity and conitifdity of healthcare information. Healthcare angations are required to document trair
on these topics to support their compliance.
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Continuing Education (“CE”).State nurse practice laws are usually the soure@thiority for establishing the state board of mgrswhich
then establishes the state’s CE requirements @degsional nurses. The continuing education umdgnams are accredited by the American
Nurses Credentialing Center Commission on Accréditaand/or the state board of nursing. CE requéngisi vary widely from state to sta
Twenty-nine states require some form of CE in otdeenew a nurse’s license. In some states, theeGErement only applies to tieensure
of advance practice nurses, or additional CEs neangQuired of this category of nurses. On averd@eo 15 CEs are required annually, with
reporting generally on a bi-annual basis. Certifares may also require continuing education cre@itg., CNOR — certification of
perioperative nursing).

Continuing Medical Education (“CME")State licensing boards, professional organizatimtsemployers require physicians to certify that
they have accumulated a minimum number of contopuiedical education hours to maintain their licangenerally, each state’s medical
practice laws authorize the state’s board of maditd establish and track CME requirements. THity-state medical licensing boards
currently have CME requirements. The number of GMErs required by each state ranges up to 50 Ipaurgear. Other sources of CME
requirements are state medical societies and peastiecialty boards. The failure to obtain the igtpuamount and type of CME could result
in non-renewal of the physician’s license to piaetinedicine and/or membership in a medical or fp@specialty society. The American
Medical Association’s, or AMA’s, Physician Recogoit Award, or PRA, is the most widely recognizeditieate for acknowledging
physician completion of a CME course. The AMA clfiss continuing education activities as eitheregairy 1, which includes formal CME
activities, or category 2, which includes most mifal activities. Sponsors want to designate CMivitiets for AMA PRA category 1 becau
this has become the benchmark for quality in folynaiganized educational activities. Almost all ages nationwide that require CME
participation specify AMA PRA category 1 credit. @mstitutions and organizations accredited tovyle CME can designate an activity for
AMA PRA category 1. The Accreditation Council onr@iouing Medical Education, or ACCME, is responsibbr the accreditation of
medical schools, state medical societies and atlsdtutions and organizations that provide CME\aii¢s for a national or regional audience
of physicians. Only institutions and organizatians accredited. The ACCME and state medical sesietd not accredit or approve individ
activities. State medical societies, operating utite aegis of the ACCME, accredit institutions anganizations that provide CME activities
primarily for physicians within the state or boritey states. We are an accredited provider of CMEnbyACCME.

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration and the Fedeal Trade Commission

Current FDA and FTC rules and enforcement actiosragulatory policies or those that the FDA orEi&€C may develop in the future could
have a material adverse effect on our ability wvjate existing or future applications or service®tr end users or obtain the necessary
corporate sponsorship to do so. The FDA and the f€gGlate the form, content and dissemination loéliag, advertising and promotional
materials, including direct-toensumer prescription drug and medical device didiey, prepared by, or for, pharmaceutical, bibtedogy ol
medical device companies. The FTC regulates ovectiunter drug advertising and, in some cases,aaledievice advertising. Generally,
regulated companies must limit their advertising promotional materials to discussions of the FOds+aved claims and, in limited
circumstances, to a limited number of claims ngiraped by the FDA. Therefore, any information theimotes the use of pharmaceutical or
medical device products that is presented withsewvice is subject to the full array of the FDA a&C requirements and enforcement
actions. We believe that banner advertisementsisgpship links and any educational programs ttckt ilsdependent editorial control that we
may present with our service could be subject t&lDFTC regulation. While the FDA and the FTC mahe principal burden of compliar
with advertising and promotional regulations on dkeertiser, if the FDA or FTC finds that any regfet information presented with our
service violates FDA or FTC regulations, they maletregulatory action against us or the advertiseponsor of that information. In 1996,
the FDA announced it would develop a guidance d@siraxpressing a broad set of policies dealing thighpromotion of pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and medical device products on therihet. Although the FDA has yet to issue that go@ document, agency officials
continue to predict its eventual release. The FDance document may reflect new regulatory pdidhet more tightly regulate the format
and content of promotional information on the Intdr

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND OTHER PROPRIETARY RIGHTS

We obtain a portion of our content under licenseagents with publishers or authors, through asségs or work for hire arrangements
with third parties and from internal staff develagmh We require our content partners to represahtrarrant that their content does not
infringe on any third-party copyrights and thatytheve the right to provide their content and habiined all third-party consents necessary
to do so. Our content partners also agree to indgms against liability we might sustain due te ttontent they provide.

To protect our proprietary rights, we rely gengralh copyright, trademark and trade secret lawsfidentiality agreements with employees
and third parties and license agreements with dtargs, vendors and customers. We own the federdémark registrations for the mark
“HEALTHSTREAM.”
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Company files reports with the Securities ardhange Commission (“SEC”), including annual repant Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q and other reports from time to timiee Public may read and copy any materials we fith the SEC at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, WashingiiD,20549. The public may obtain information on dipeeration of the Public Reference
Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The Gowps an electronic filer and the SEC maintainsrégrnet site at http://www.sec.gov
that contains the reports, proxy and informati@ieshents, and other information filed electronicalur website address is
www.healthstream.com. Please note that our wehdileess is provided as an inactive textual referemty. We make available free of
charge through our web site, the annual reportaymFL0-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curreparts on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to those reports as soon as reasomabticable after such material is electronicallgdiwith or furnished to the SEC. The
information provided on our website is not partto$ report, and is therefore not incorporateddfgnence unless such information is
otherwise specifically referenced elsewhere in thjsort.

OUR EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2002 we employed 175 personss@cess will depend in large part upon our ahiititattract and retain qualified
employees. We face competition in this regard faither companies, but we believe that we maintaodgelations with our employees. We
are not subject to any collective bargaining ageres

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following is a brief summary of the businespearience of each of the executive officers of tleen@any. Officers of the Company are
elected by the Board of Directors and serve aptbasure of the Board of Directors. The followiadle sets forth certain information
regarding the executive officers of the Company:

Name Age Position
Robert A. Frist, Jr 36 Chief Executive Officer, President and ChairmathefBoard of Director
Arthur E. Newmar 54 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
Michael Pote 41 Senior Vice Presidel
Fred Perne 49 Senior Vice Presidel
Robert H. Laird, Jr 35 Vice President, General Counsel and Secre
Susan A. Brownit 38  Vice President of Finance and Corporate Contr

Robert A. Frist, Jr., one of our co-founders, haxsyed as our chief executive officer and chairmiahe board of directors since 1990 and
president since 2001. Mr. Frist serves on the bohdirectors of HealthLeaders, Inc., a healthgaralisher and HearingPlanet, Inc., an on
hearing aid distribution company. He graduated wiBachelor of Science in business with conceninatin finance, economics and
marketing from Trinity University.

Arthur E. Newman has served as our chief finaraffader and senior vice president since Januany026@om April 1990 to August 1999,
Mr. Newman served as executive vice president eeéng finance, human resources, information systmdscustomer service and
fulfillment for Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins,drmerly Waverly, Inc., a publicly traded medicailesees publisher. In May 1998, Waverly
was acquired by Wolters Kluwer and merged with \&taltKluwer’s existing U.S. based medical publish@gpincott-Raven Publishers. Frc
August 1999 to January 2000, Mr. Newman serveti@shief technology officer for Wolters Kluwer’sisutific, technical and medical
companies consisting of five separate units. Mwiian serves on the board of directors of Healtheesdnc., a healthcare publisher.

Mr. Newman holds a Bachelor of Science in chemistign the University of Miami and a Masters of Busss Administration from Rutgers
University.

Michael Pote has served as our senior vice presgiece August 1997. From January 1996 to AuguS7 1®r. Pote served as vice president
of Columbia Health Care Network, a managed caréractor. From August 1994 to June 1996, Mr. Poteeskas vice president and
administrator for Centennial Medical Center. Mrtd’received a Bachelor of Science in educationsaldsters of Science in education from
Syracuse University.

Fred Perner has served as senior vice presider@ Biavember 2000 and senior director from July 2@08ovember 2000. From January
1999 until June 2000, Mr. Perner served as presimfdaducation Design, Inc., a company acquireddbglthStream in July 2000. Mr. Perner
served as corporate director of marketing for tlssokiation of periOperative Registered Nurses f18@6 to 1999. From 1976 to 1988,

Mr. Perner served various positions, including \peesident of marketing and business developmerthéomedical device group of Bristol
Myers Squibb. Mr. Perner holds a Bachelor of Sa@enageneral management and a Masters in Busingssmstration from Indiana
University. Mr. Perner also holds a J.D. from tha@wuérsity of Denver College of Law.
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Robert H. Laird, Jr. has served as our vice presided general counsel since March 1997 and segtece October 1999. Mr. Laird also
served as our director of finance from March 198&l INovember 1999. He holds a Bachelor of Art&imglish from Tulane University, a J.
from the University of Tennessee College of Law arldasters of Business Administration from the énsity of Tennessee. Prior to
attending graduate school from 1993 to 1996, Mitd-aas employed by CIGNA, an insurance organizgtin contracts administration from
1991 to 1993.

Susan A. Brownie has served as our vice presiddirtance and corporate controller since Novemt8991 From August 1986 until 1999,
Ms. Brownie worked for KPMG LLP, a public accourgiand consulting firm, most recently as a senionagar. She holds a Bachelor of
Business Administration from the College of Williaand Mary and is a certified public accountant.

RISK FACTORS

We believe that the risks and uncertainties desdrlizlow and elsewhere in this document are timeipal material risks facing the Company
as of the date of this report. In the future, weylbacome subject to additional risks that are notently known to us. Our business, financial
condition or results of operations could be matigreedversely affected by any of the following réskrhe trading price of our common stock
could decline due to any of the following risks.

Risks related to our business model.
Our limited operating history makes evaluating obusiness difficult.

Although we were incorporated in 1990, we did mitiate our online operations until March 1999. é\result, we have only a limited
operating history on which you can base an evaloaif our business and prospects. Our prospectshausonsidered in light of the risks,
uncertainties, expenses and difficulties frequeatigountered by companies in their early stageewélopment, particularly companies
introducing new methods of delivering products aadrices into a cautious market like the healthoatestry. Our failure to successfully
address these risks and uncertainties could hawaterial adverse effect on our financial conditiBome of these risks and uncertainties r
to our ability to:

. attract and maintain a large base of customets, dn the healthcare organization and the phamtae¢ and medical device sides
of the busines:

. develop a scalable infrastructure, including addai hardware and software, customer and businggm®g, systems and persont
to support our busines

. develop and introduce desirable services and cdimgp&ontent;
. establish and maintain strategic relationships withtent providers or partners; &

. respond effectively to competitive and technolobétevelopments

Variability and length of our sales cycle for ourpducts and services as well as our product mix nmagke our operating results
unpredictable and volatile.

The period from our initial contact with a potehtastomer and the first purchase of our solutiptie customer typically ranges from three
to nine months, and in some cases has extended fomticér. In addition, the revenue recognition piels for sales of Internet-based learning
products and other services vary significantly froon installed learning management products anteobvaevelopment services. As a result
of both of these factors, we have only limited ifpilo forecast the timing and type of sales. Thigurn, makes it more difficult to predict
quarterly financial performance.

Failure to effectively manage growth of our operatis and infrastructure could disrupt our operatiorand prevent us from generating the
revenues we expect.

We currently are experiencing a period of expansgiosur customer utilization patterns and relatgdaistructure. We anticipate continued
expansion in end user traffic from our Internetdshkearning products and other services. To maaaggrowth, we must successfully
implement, constantly improve and effectively agliour operational and financial systems. Our exjstr planned operational and financial
systems may not be sufficient to support our growth
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The market for online training and continuing edudn in the healthcare industry is new and rapidgvolving.

Uncertainty as to the level of demand and markegptance for online training and continuing edweath the healthcare industry exposes us
to a high degree of risk. Although our sales of ARcontent during 2002 were promising, we cannguas that the healthcare community
will completely adopt online training and contingieducation as a replacement for, or alternatiy&aditional sources of training and
continuing education. If the market for online tiag and continuing education fails to develop,aleps more slowly than expected, beco
saturated with competitors, or e-learning doesgnote to be an effective method for training, ousibess will suffer.

Failure to adequately address our customers’ ne@dsur products and services could prevent our anpiated growth in revenues.

Our management may not be able to effectively ilenhanage and exploit existing and emerging miaokgortunities. If we do not
adequately manage our product and service innavapportunities, our business will suffer.

We may not be able to maintain our competitive piosi against current and potential competitors, espally those with significantly
greater financial, marketing, technical and otheesources

Several of our competitors have longer operatistphies and significantly greater financial, teciahi marketing and other resources than us,
and several of the larger e-learning companies frane time-to-time announced their intentions téeenhe healthcare learning market. Sti
others offer a lower cost service alternative thay capture a portion of our potential customeebasaddition, if such competitors were to
offer a complete e-learning solution to the heatbdndustry, our competitive position could be erdely affected. These companies may be
able to respond more quickly than us to new or ghegnopportunities, technologies, standards oratust requirements.

We may be unable to effectively implement our grbwstrategy, which could have an adverse effect am business and competitive
position in the industry

Our business strategy includes increasing our matiae and presence through sales to new custoiueher penetration and additional
sales to existing customers, introductions of nesdpcts and services and strategic acquisitiortsctiraplement or enhance our business. We
may not be able to identify, complete or integtheeoperations of historical or future acquisitioBeme of the risks that we may encounter in
implementing our growth strategy include:

. expenses, delays and difficulties of integrating peoducts, services or acquired companies inteegigting organizatior
. diversion of manageme’'s attention from other business matt

. expenses associated with and difficulties in fifging potential new products and services anddb&ts associated with new
products or acquisitions that are not comple

. expenses of any undisclosed or potential liabdibéany acquired company; a

. adverse impact on our financial condition due ®ttming of the new product introductions or acgigss.
If any of these risks are realized, our businesddcsuffer.

Our future success depends, in part, on our abilitysell additional content and services to exigtioustomers, as well as obtaining new
customers.

We plan to grow our revenues by sales to new custeas well as increasing our sales of contenbémet services to existing customers.
Our identification of additional content and seesanay not result in timely development of completagy products. In addition, the success
of certain new products and services may be depgraecontinued growth in our base of Internet-dasestomers. Because healthcare
training continues to change and evolve, we mayradble to accurately predict and develop contedtatiner products to address the neec
the healthcare industry. Continued growth of oterdmetbased customer population is dependent on outyatilicontinue to provide releva
products and services in a timely manner. The sscotour business will depend on our ability tatomue providing our products and
services as well as continued content and produwrecements to address the needs of the healihdaisry.
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Without the continued development and maintenandétee Internet and the availability of increased bdwidth to consumers, our
business may not succeed.

Given the online nature of our business, withoatdbntinued development and maintenance of thenktténfrastructure, we could fail to
meet our overall strategic objectives and ultimafall to generate the user traffic and revenueexaect. This continued development of the
Internet includes maintenance of a reliable netwaitk the necessary speed, data capacity and sgasiwell as timely development of
complementary products for providing reliable Ingfraccess and services. Because commerce ortéheelinand the online exchange of
information is evolving, we cannot predict whetttez Internet will prove to be a viable commerciarketplace in the long term. The success
of our business will rely on the continued improwsmof the Internet as a convenient and efficieeans of information and content
distribution.

Our business depends on the ability of our endsusesiccess and use our courseware, as well antluct commercial transactions with us,
without significant delays or aggravation that n@yassociated with decreased availability of Idebandwidth and access to our Web sites.
Our penetration of a broader market and sale atiaddl services to existing customers will depeindyart, on continued proliferation of hi
speed Internet access. The Internet has experieacdds likely to continue to experience, sigrafit growth in the numbers of users and
amount of traffic. As the Internet continues to es@nce increased numbers of users, increasedeinegwf use and increased bandwidth
requirements, the Internet infrastructure may babiato support the demands placed on it. In amditncreased users or bandwidth
requirements may impair the performance of therigtiegenerally or our Web sites specifically. Thietnet has experienced a variety of
outages and other delays as a result of damagwtions of its infrastructure, and it could faceames and delays in the future. These outage:
and delays could reduce the level of Internet usageell as the level of traffic, and could resalthe Internet becoming an inconvenient or
uneconomical source of continuing education aniditrg.

The infrastructure and complementary products origes necessary to make the Internet a viableatial media and commercial
marketplace for the long term may not be develapexatessfully or in a timely manner. Even if thesmdpcts or services are developed, the
Internet may not become a viable educational medinchcommercial marketplace for the services tteabffer.

Protection of certain proprietary trademarks and ah@in names may be difficult and costl

Despite protection of certain proprietary tradensaakd domain names, a third-party could, withotl@ization, copy or otherwise
appropriate our content or other information fronmn database. Our agreements with employees, cansutind others who participate in
development activities could be breached. We mayawee adequate remedies for any breach, andame secrets may otherwise become
known or independently developed by competitorsddition, the laws of some foreign countries doprotect our proprietary rights to the
same extent as the laws of the United States, ff@ctige copyright, trademark and trade secretgutidn may not be available in those
jurisdictions. We currently hold several domain meaniThe legal status of intellectual property anltiternet is currently subject to varic
uncertainties. The current system for registeratipcating and managing domain names has beemubjecs of litigation and proposed
regulatory reform. Additionally, legislative promds have been made by the federal government thaldvafford broad protection to owners
of databases of information, such as stock qudtais. protection of databases already exists irEilm@pean Union. There have been
substantial amounts of litigation in the computed anline industries regarding intellectual properssets. Third-parties may claim
infringement by us with respect to current and feaforoducts, trademarks or other proprietary rigéusl we may counterclaim against such
parties in such actions. Any such claims or cowtaéns could be time-consuming, result in costigéition, divert management’s attention,
cause product release delays, require us to radesigproducts or require us to enter into royaltyicensing agreements, any of which could
have a material adverse effect upon our busingss)dial condition and operating results. Such Itgyend licensing agreements may not be
available on terms acceptable to us, if at all.

Financial Risks
Our limited operating history may prevent us frorarecasting our revenues accurately.

As a result of our limited operating history, wemtat have historical financial data for a signifitaumber of periods upon which to forecast
quarterly revenues and results of operations. Wieuwethat period-to-period comparisons of our agieg results are not meaningful and
should not be relied upon as indicators of futdgrmance. In addition, our operating results mary substantially. This variability results
primarily from the differences in revenue recogmitfor our various products and services. The &efifiect of these factors on the price of
stock, however, will be difficult to assess du®tw limited operating history. In one or more fiwuarters, our results of operations may fall
below the expectations of securities analysts awnestors, and the trading price of our common stoak decline.
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We expect net losses in the future and acceptabidifability results may not materialize.

In 2002, we had a net loss of approximately $1616am. At December 31, 2002, our accumulated defias $65.5 million. We expect
continued net losses and negative cash flow thratidgrast the third quarter of 2003. There is rsuemce that we will become profitable.

Our revenue recognition is dependent upon achievaingf certain events, and our inability to recogmizevenue in accordance with our
expectations will harm our operating results.

In accordance with our revenue recognition polayr, ability to record revenues depends upon sevactdrs. These factors include
completion and acceptance by our customers of dpedlcontent and courseware. Utilization of couesevis required in connection with
subscription Internet-based learning products amdneercial support arrangements. While our custaroetracts have not historically
provided for minimum levels of participant regisioa or course completion, customer requirementg degmand such contract features in the
future. Further, delivery of customer-specific distaequired for us to implement customers on aterhet-based learning platform.
Accordingly, if customers do not provide us witle tpecified information in a timely manner, outipto recognize revenues will be
delayed, which could adversely impact our operatasylts.

We may not be able to meet our strategic busindgeciives unless we obtain additional financing, ish may not be available to us on
favorable terms or at all

The net proceeds of our initial public offering,|BO, and the preceding private offerings of ounown and preferred stock, together with
our current cash reserves, are expected to beisuiftfito meet our cash requirements through at B333. However, we may need to raise
additional funds in order to:

. acquire complementary businesses, technology, ebotgroducts
. finance working capital requiremen

. develop or enhance existing services or prodi

. respond to competitive pressur

. sustain content, distribution and development i@lships; ol

. maintain required infrastructure to support ouribess.

At December 31, 2002, we had approximately $20MMamiin cash, cash equivalents, restricted casigstments in marketable securities and
related interest receivable. We have commitmengayoapproximately $500,000 in 2003 related toateragreements with various content
partners and other strategic alliance agreemergseXyect to incur approximately $1.0 to $ 1.5 wiillof capital expenditures during 2003 to
support our business. We expect negative cash flowsntinue through at least September 2003, apdating losses to continue through at
least 2003. We cannot assure that additional fingneill be available on terms favorable to usaball. If adequate funds are not availabl
are not available on acceptable terms, our alidifyind expansion, take advantage of available dppiies, develop or enhance services or
products or otherwise respond to competitive presswould be significantly limited. If we raise étitshal funds by issuing equity or
convertible debt securities, the percentage ownerdflour shareholders will be reduced, and theseaiisties may have rights, preferences or
privileges senior to those of our shareholders.

Revenues from content depend, in part, on our ohiag proper ownership and distribution rights froraur content partners

Most of our agreements with content providers ararfitial terms of one to three years. The confartners may choose not to renew their
agreements with us or may terminate the agreeneantgif we do not fulfill our contractual obligatis. If a significant number of our contt
providers terminate or fail to renew their agreetsavith us on acceptable terms, it could result reduction in the number of courses we are
able to distribute and decreased revenues. Masirofigreements with our content partners are aseemclusive, and our competitors offer,
or could offer, training and continuing educati@mtent that is similar to or the same as oursulflighers and authors, including our current
content partners, offer information to users or@ampetitors on more favorable terms than thoseredf to us or increase our license fees
competitive position and our profit margins andgmpects could be harmed. In addition, the failur@iiycontent partners to deliver high-
quality content and to continuously upgrade theirtent in response to user demand and evolvinghoeae advances and trends could result
in user dissatisfaction and inhibit our abilityatiract users.
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Risks Related to Sales, Marketing and Competition
We expect competition to increase in the future aHhicould reduce our revenues, potential profits aaderall market share.

The market for traditional and online training ammhtinuing education services is competitive. Bagito entry on the Internet are relatively
low, and we expect competition to increase in thiare. We face competitive pressures from numeagtisal and potential competitors, both
online and offline, many of which have longer opiag histories, greater brand name recognitiomgdaconsumer bases and significantly
greater financial, technical and marketing resagithan we do. There is no assurance that onlifrérigpand continuing education services
provided by our existing and potential competitoit not be perceived by the healthcare commungtyaing superior to ours.

If we fail to collect accurate and useful data abbour end users, potential content partners may sopport our services, which may res
in reduced courseware revenues.

We plan to use utilization data about our end useexpand, refine and target our marketing aneissefforts. We collect most of our data
from end users who report information to us as tlegyster for courses on our Web site. If a larg@pprtion of users are unwilling to provide
data or if they falsify data, our marketing andesafforts would be less effective, since contamntrjers generally require detailed
demographic data on their target audiences. Irtiaddiaws relating to privacy and the use of thietnet to collect personal information
could limit our ability to collect data and utilizeir database. Failure to collect accurate andilidata could result in a substantial reduction
in courseware revenues.

Risks Related to Operations

We may be unable to adequately develop our systpnogesses and support in a manner that will enabteto meet the demand for our
services

We have provided our online products and servioesess than four years and continue to develombility to provide our courses and
education management systems on both a subscrgoiitransactional basis over the Internet. Owréusuccess will depend on our ability
effectively develop the infrastructure, includindd#tional hardware and software, and implemensteices, including customer support,
necessary to meet the demand for our servicesin@bility from time to time to successfully develtye necessary systems and implement
the necessary services on a timely basis has edsnlour customers experiencing some delays errimitions in their service. Such delays or
interruptions may cause customers to become difisatiwith our service and move to competing prexsdof traditional and online training
and education services. If this happens, our ree®oould be adversely affected, which would hareaterial adverse effect on our financial
condition.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues froHCA, and the termination of our agreement with HOvould have a material adverse
effect on our business.

We provide our Internet-based training and edunat&rvices to HCA Information Technology & Servickg. (“HCA”) pursuant to an
agreement that expires in October 2005. During 2@@2derived 18.1%, or $2.9 million, of our neteaues from HCA pursuant to this
agreement. HCA has the right to terminate thisemgent if we fail to deliver the required servicesler this agreement on a timely basis. A
termination of our agreement with HCA would haveaterial adverse effect on our business as wealliagbility to secure other large
customers for the services of our Healthcare Legrflienter.

Our business operations could be significantly dipted if we lose members of, or fail to integrateyr management team.

Our future performance will be substantially depamtcon the continued services of our management seal our ability to retain and
motivate them. The loss of the services of anyuwfaificers or senior managers could harm our lessnas we may not be able to find
suitable replacements. We do not have employmeaeeagents with any of our key personnel, other tharchief executive officer, and we
do not maintain any “key person” life insuranceigiek.

We may not be able to hire and retain a sufficiemimber of qualified employees and, as a result,way not be able to grow as we expect
or maintain the quality of our services.

Our future success will depend on our ability toaat, train, retain and motivate other highly &dltechnical, managerial, marketing and
customer support personnel. Competition for thessgmnel is intense, especially for developers, dédigners and sales personnel, and we
may be unable to successfully attract sufficiegthalified personnel. We have experienced difficityhe past hiring qualified personnel in a
timely manner for these positions. The pool of igal technical personnel, in particular, is lindten Nashville, Tennessee, which is where
our headquarters are located. We will need to raairihe size of our staff to support our anticiplageowth, without compromising the qua

of our offerings or customer service. Our inabititylocate, hire, integrate and retain qualifiedspanel in sufficient numbers may reduce the
quality of our services



We must continue to upgrade our technology infrastture to effectively meet demand for our services.

We must continue to add hardware and enhance seftwaccommodate the increased content in owrltand increased use of our Web
site. In order to make timely decisions about hamdwand software enhancements, we must be abtetoadely forecast the growth in
demand for our services. This growth in demandtorservices is difficult to forecast and the ptitdraudience for
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our services is large. If we are unable to incréhsalata storage and processing capacity of aies\s at least as fast as the growth in
demand, our systems may become unstable and don@is may encounter delays or disruptions in therivice. Unscheduled downtime
could harm our business and also could discouragertt and potential end users and reduce futwentees.

Our data and Web server systems may stop workingiark improperly due to natural disasters, failuaf third-party services and other
unexpected problems.

An unexpected event like a power or telecommurooatifailure, fire, flood, earthquake, or other sataphic loss at our osite data facility o
at our Internet service providers’ facilities coglalise the loss of critical data and prevent us offering our services. Our business
interruption insurance may not adequately compensafor losses that may occur. In addition, we oel third parties to securely store our
archived data, house our Web server and netwotkmgsand connect us to the Internet. While ourisemproviders have planned for certain
contingencies, the failure by any of these thirdipa to provide these services satisfactorily andinability to find suitable replacements
would impair our ability to access archives andrafeour systems.

We may lose users and lose revenues if our onlieeusity measures fail.

If the security measures that we use to protecqmad information are ineffective, we may lose as#rour services, which could reduce our
revenues. We rely on security and authenticatiohrtelogy licensed from third parties. With thishaology, we perform realme credit carc
authorization and verification. We cannot preditiether these security measures could be circumddayt@ew technological developments.
In addition, our software, databases and serveysh@aulnerable to computer viruses, physical ectebnic breakns and similar disruption
We may need to spend significant resources to gragainst security breaches or to alleviate probleaused by any breaches. We cannot
assure that we can prevent all security breaches.

Risks Related to Government Regulation, Content anthtellectual Property
Government regulation may require us to change tay we do business.

The laws and regulations that govern our busineaage rapidly. The United States government angalernments of states and foreign
countries have attempted to regulate activitietherinternet. Evolving areas of law that are reh¢ta our business include privacy law,
proposed encryption laws, content regulation atessand use tax laws and regulations. Becausesofapidly evolving and uncertain
regulatory environment, we cannot predict how tHase and regulations might affect our businessaddition, these uncertainties make it
difficult to ensure compliance with the laws andulkations governing the Internet. These laws agdlegions could harm us by subjecting us
to liability or forcing us to change how we do mesis. See “Business - Government Regulation dhtieenet and the Healthcare Industry”
for a more complete discussion of these laws agdla&ons.

We may be liable to third parties for content thiatavailable from our online library.

We may be liable to third parties for the contendur online library if the text, graphics, softwaor other content in our library violates
copyright, trademark, or other intellectual progeights, our content partners violate their coctimal obligations to others by providing
content to our library or the content does not oomfto accepted standards of care in the healtlprafession. We may also be liable for
anything that is accessible from our Web site thholinks to other Web sites. We attempt to minintlzese types of liabilities by requiring
representations and warranties relating to ouresdmartners’ ownership of the rights to distribasewell as the accuracy of their content. We
also take necessary measures to review this conteselves. Although our agreements with our cdntantners contain provisions providing
for indemnification by the content providers in #neent of inaccurate content, we cannot assuretivatontent partners will have the
financial resources to meet this obligation. Alldgdjability could harm our business by damaging i@putation, requiring us to incur legal
costs in defense, exposing us to awards of danagksosts and diverting management’s attention dway our business. See “Business -
Intellectual Property and Other Proprietary Righits”a more complete discussion of the potentitdat$ of this liability on our business.

We may be unable to protect our intellectual properand we may be liable for infringing the inteldéual property rights of others.

Our business could be harmed if unauthorized fwiniginge upon or misappropriate our proprietaystems, content, services or other
information. Our efforts to protect our intelleckpaoperty through copyright, trademarks and ottartrols may not be adequate. In the
future, litigation may be necessary to enforceintellectual property rights or to determine thdéidity and scope of the proprietary rights of
others, which could be time consuming and costiiellectual property infringement claims could bada against us as the number of our
competitors grows. These claims, even if not madte, could be expensive and divert our attenfiiom operating our company. In additic

if we become liable to third parties for infringittggir intellectual property rights, we could bguied to pay a substantial damage award and
develop comparable non-infringing intellectual pedy, to obtain a license or to cease providingcthrtent or services that contain the
infringing intellectual property. We may be unatdedevelop non-infringing intellectual propertyaistain a license on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all.
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Any reduction or change in the regulation of contiting education and training in the healthcare indtry may adversely affect ot
business.

Our business model is dependent in part on reqtiiagning and continuing education for healthcaiafgssionals and other healthcare
workers resulting from regulations of state anddfabdagencies, state licensing boards and profeslsimganizations. Any change in these
regulations that reduce the requirements for cairtgneducation and training for the healthcare #tiducould harm our business.

In addition, our business with pharmaceutical amdlical device manufacturers is predicated on ollityato maintain accreditation status
with organizations such as the Accreditation ColuiociContinuing Medical Education (“ACCME”"), Ameran Nurses Credentialing Center
(“ANCC™), American Council for Pharmaceutical Edtioa (“ACPE”") and others. The failure to maintabatsis as an accredited provider
could result in a detrimental effect on our busénes

Item 2. Properties

Our principal office is located in Nashville, Tessee. Our lease for approximately 31,000 squatefebis location expires in 2005. The
lease provides for two five-year renewal optionsnRat this location is approximately $24,000 penth through February 2004 and
approximately $22,000 per month through April 2005.

As a result of our acquisition of m3, we are legsaipproximately 6,000 square feet of office spad@allas, Texas. The lease expires on
January 31, 2007 and has a monthly rent of apprabeiyn $8,000. We are currently subleasing thiceffipace at the rate of approximately
$6,000 per month to a third party for the remairtigxgn of the lease

As a result of our acquisition of Education Desige, are leasing approximately 8,000 square feeffie space in Denver, Colorado. The
Denver lease expires on June 30, 2005 and has ettt of approximately $9,000 through June 3@3@and approximately $10,000
through June 30, 2005.

As a result of our acquisition of SynQuest Techgis, we are leasing approximately 3,700 squareofesffice space in Raleigh, North
Carolina. The Raleigh lease expires on Septemhe2@®} and has monthly rent of $5,875 through 3le003; $6,050 through August 31,
2003; $5,894 through September 30, 2003; $4,4@igir June 30, 2004; and $4,534 through Septembh&08d. We are currently seeking
sublease this space.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Relatedo8kholder Matters

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the high and low sales prices per shaceioEommon stock as reported on the
NASDAQ National Market

High Low
2002
First Quartel $1.42 $1.11
Second Quarte 1.9C 1.07
Third Quartel 1.41 0.7¢
Fourth Quarte 1.41 0.9¢
2001
First Quartel $2.0C $1.0¢
Second Quarte 1.82 1.0C
Third Quartel 1.7¢C 1.0t
Fourth Quarte 1.5C 0.8¢

On March 21, 2003, there were 210 registered hslded approximately 1,925 beneficial holders of@mmon stock. Because many of s
shares are held by brokers and other institutionsahalf of shareholders, we are unable to estithatéotal number of shareholders
represented by these record holders.

On February 28, 2003, options to purchase 15,08festat an exercise price of $1.27 per share wargegl to an employee. On March 14,
2003, options to purchase up to 590,000 shareas exercise price of $1.315 were granted to emplkayEleese options vest annually over f
years and expire eight years after issua

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock, and we do not anticipate pagash dividends in the foreseeable
future. We intend to retain earnings to financedkpansion of our operations.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
There have been no sales of unregistered secusities December 31, 2001.
USE OF PROCEEDS

On April 10, 2000 our Registration Statement omir&-1 (File No. 333-88939) was declared effectiyehe Securities and Exchange
Commission. Pursuant to the Registration Statermentegistered and sold 5,275,000 shares of constonhk at a price of $9.00 per share.
The managing underwriter was FleetBoston Rober&ephens, Inc. The aggregate price of the amoterteaf and sold was $47,475,000. In
connection with the issuance and distribution efsbcurities registered, we paid $3,323,250 relatethderwriting discounts and
commissions and approximately $2,000,000 of otkpesses.

The net offering proceeds to the Company after ciéaly the total expenses noted above were appraeiyn®42,200,000. From the effective
date of the Registration Statement through Decer®bg2002, we have used approximately $30,800,08@emet offering proceeds to fund
general operating expenses, acquisitions and otheking capital needs.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected statements of operations data fahtke-year period ended December 31, 2002 andahede sheet data as of December 31,
2002 and 2001 are derived from our financial steteisithat have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP jmdependent auditors, and are
included elsewhere in this report. The balancetsiieia as of December 31, 1999 and 1998 are defigadaudited financial statements that
are included in our initial filing on Form S-1 (Rego. 333-88939). You should read the followingeséd financial data in conjunction with
our consolidated financial statements and the riotésose statements and “Management’s DiscussidrAaalysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” located elsewhere mrégport.

As discussed in “Acquisitions” elsewhere in thipag, HealthStream acquired seven companies bet2@e@h and 2001. As a result of these
acquisitions, the annual results presented belewnar comparable. Revenues may be subject to ltions as discussed further in
“Managemer's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operatio” located elsewhere in this report. During 2002,



adopted SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Intangible Assetvhich eliminated the amortization of goodwiticaindefinite lived
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intangible assets. In accordance with the provismSFAS No. 142, we recorded a transitional gabhdwpairment charge of approximately
$5.0 million as a cumulative effect of a changadeounting principle as of January 1, 2002. Assaltef this accounting change, the annual
results presented below are not comparable. Sez®\imt the Consolidated Financial Statements ftailde The operating results for any
single year are not necessarily indicative of #muilts to be expected in the future.

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

(In thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenues, ne $ 15,79( $ 13,50: $ 9,65: $2,56¢ $1,71¢

Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 5,97C 5,772 4,357 2,13¢ 1,057
Product developmel 4,67¢ 5,041 5,63¢ 2,03 44z
Sales, marketing, general and administrative exgs 12,83t 13,01¢ 15,42¢ 2,501 1,33(
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,39¢ 9,93¢ 6,901 452 147
Office consolidation charg 164 401 — — —
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 10t 712 — — —
Total operating costs and expen 28,14¢ 34,88: 32,32t 7,12¢ 2,971
Loss from operation (12,359 (21,379 (22,677) (4,560 (1,267)
Other income (expens 717 1,80z 2,38¢ 104 (329
Net loss, before cumulative effect of a changecitoanting principle (11,64) (29,57¢) (20,285 (4,456 (1,590
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec (5,000 — — — —
Net loss $(16,647) $(19,57¢) $(20,28Y)  $(4,456€) $(1,590
I L] L] | |

Net loss per shal- basic and diluted, before cumulative effect ohange

in accounting principls $ (0.59) $ (0.99) $ (1.29 $(1.19 $(0.49
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec (0.25) — — — —
Net loss per sha- basic and dilute $ (0.89 $ (0.99) $ (1.29 $(1.19 $(0.49
I | | | |

Weighted average shares of common stock outsta— basic and dilute: 20,26: 19,92 15,78¢ 3,751 3,25¢
I L] L] | |

At December 31,
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

(In thousands)

BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 4,07C $ 4,747 $19,83! $13,63: $§ 51
Investments in marketable securit— short and long terr 15,157 21,41( 20,341 — —
Working capital (deficit 14,91: 17,94¢ 26,43¢ 11,46% (2,859
Total asset 32,917 49,247 70,45: 17,45 1,15:
Deferred revenu 3,34¢  3,27¢ 2,764 791 328
Long-term debt and capital leases, net of current po 41 11¢ 21€ 18¢€ 32
Shareholder equity (deficit) 25,89¢ 42,54: 62,015 14,19 (2,285

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of the financial conditiand results of operations of HealthStream shoeltelad in conjunction with “Selected
Financial Data” and HealthStream’s ConsolidatedRaial Statements and related notes thereto indlatiewhere in this report. This
discussion contains forward-looking statementsithailve risks and uncertainties. HealthStreamtsi@cresults may differ significantly from
the results discussed and those anticipated i floesward-looking statements as a result of mantofs, including but not limited to, those
described under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere m r&port.

The following discussion provides an overview of bistory together with a summary of our revenumgnition policies, product
development policies, policy regarding impairmehgoodwill, intangible and other long-lived assetsd the significant current year
transactions. Our critical accounting policies ut# revenue recognition, product development @sdsrelated capitalization, impairment of
goodwill, intangible and other long-lived assets] accounting for strategic alliances and acqoisdi

OVERVIEW AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIM  ATES



HealthStream was incorporated in 1990 and begaketiag its Internet-based solutions in March 1988 Company evolved from an initial
focus of providing multimedia tools for informatialiissemination to a facilitator of training toots £ntities in the healthcare industry.
Revenues from the healthcare organizations busimés§'HCO”) are derived from the following categories: provisaf services through o
Internet-based learning products, content subsgnigt licensing, maintenance and support of instldibarning management products, content
subscriptions, custom content development andiatyast online and enduring products. Revenues frioenpharmaceutical and medical
device company business unit (“PMD”) are derivemhfiive event development, coordination and regi&tn services, online development
and training, Web cast events, and other educatanthtraining services.

Revenue Recognition

Internet-based learning products including our Healre Learning CentéM (“HLC”) and content subscriptions are provided opea person
subscription basis, with fees ranging from less thh to more than $6 per month, based on the §itteedacilities’ employee population and
the content offerings to which they subscribe. @it for e-learning products generally range f&5000 to
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approximately $400,000 based on the duration ottmract, number of users and content involvedeRee derived from the provision of
services through our Internet-based learning prisdaie recognized ratably over the term of theisergreement. The Company also offers
training services for clients to facilitate intetyoa of this technology. Fees for training are lsase the time and efforts of the personnel
involved. Other transaction-based online servicepeovided based on a fee ranging from $5 to $¥25upderlying credit hour, or based upon
access to a body of content for a defined peridihté. Most courses provide one to three credirsiduwowever, during 2000 we began sel
board review courses that include significantly enoredit. We recognize revenue for all content stipson services ratably over the
subscription period and recognize revenue for &ati@n-based online course sales when the coudsdiiered. Training revenues are
generally recognized upon completion of trainingymes. Late in 1999, we began entering into areaments that provide for commercial
support of online courseware. Such revenue is m@zed based on an estimate of usage ratably ogdetm unless usage varies from this
estimate. As discussed in “Risk Factors” aboveemere recognition policies for Internet-based leagriroducts and other services vary
significantly from our installed learning managemproducts.

Revenues from installed learning management predaretrecognized upon shipment or installatiomefsoftware. The one-time license fee
typically ranges from $20,000 to $200,000 basethemumber of users. Revenues related to instedleding management products may be
subject to seasonal fluctuations because purcledglsese licenses typically are included in cust@neapital expenditure budgets. Training
services are typically based on the length of #hated training course. Such training revenuedygieally recognized upon completion of the
training services. Maintenance and technical suppoenues are typically based on a percentageeafiiginal contract amount and are
recognized over the term of the service period.dRees derived from content development servicéiseosale of products requiring
significant modification, conversion or customipatiare recorded based on the percentage of compleithod using labor hours. We
recognize custom content development revenues lmastte percentage of a project that is completed.

We recognize revenue from online and live evenetijgment and coordination services based on theeptge of completion method using
labor hours or similar event milestones. This mdthogy requires ongoing estimates regarding the ®tpenses or significant milestones
associated with the project as well as perioditreges of the progress with respect to completfosuch projects. Event registration services
are recognized upon completion of the related ezrdtare based on estimates of event registratmte:(our registration fees do not vary
based on the number of registrants unless thene iiscongruency with the initial estimate). Revenassociated with online training are
recognized over the term of the service periodver ¢the historical usage period, if usage typicdlffers from the service period. All other
service revenues, including Web cast events, aegrezed as the related services are performedodupts are delivered. Sales of products
and services to pharmaceutical and medical deviogenies can be subject to seasonal factors @sith o€ drug and product introductions,
meeting and conference dates and budget cyclesibir companies.

We expect to continue to generate revenues by tilagkeur Internet-based products and services adtteare workers through healthcare
organizations. We expect that the portion of oveneies related to services provided via our Intebased learning products will increase.
Specifically, we will seek to generate revenuesififtealthcare workers by marketing to their emplsy®rsponsoring organizations. The
transaction fees for courseware resulting from itigsketing may either be paid by the employer onspring organization or, in the case of
healthcare professionals, may be billed directltheindividual. Our Internet-based learning maglllws us to host our system in a central
data center, therefore eliminating the need fotlgamsite installations of our software. Under th&ernet-based learning model, revenues are
generated by charging for use of our coursewara subscription basis. In addition, we will contirtoesell services on our Web site on a
transaction basis.

We expect to continue to transition customers foomexisting installed learning management platotmour Internet-based learning
products. We expect that revenues resulting framsition customers will remain comparable or inseeahen compared to the annual
maintenance fees due to sales of additional coatahtourseware.

Product Development Costs

Product development costs include the costs totaiaiand internally develop and convert contentofar Internet-based learning and
installed learning management products. Once tdofinal feasibility is achieved, we capitalize tast of content developed by third parties
where the life expectancy is greater than one gedrthe anticipated cash flows from such conteekjected to exceed the cost of the
content. During 2002 and 2001, we capitalized axprately $100,000 and $1.3 million, respectiveBlated to third party content
development. Such amounts are included in the apanying consolidated balance sheets under theocefptiepaid development fees.” We
amortize content development over its expectedwitdch is generally one to two years. Product dgwaent and content development costs
that have been capitalized are subject to a periaghairment review in accordance with our polibyring 2002 and 2001, we recorded
impairment charges of approximately $105,000 ar@D$DO, respectively, with respect to certain conteevelopment fees. See Note 4 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfarimation.
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We account for Web site development costs in acsare with EITF Issue No. 00-2 “Accounting for Wake®evelopment Costs,” which
provides guidance on when to capitalize versusmesgeosts incurred to develop a Web site. Produaatldpment costs incurred to establish
the technological feasibility of computer softwa@reducts, such as our installed learning managepreducts that are developed for resale,
and Internet-based learning products and Web gitesto June 30, 2000 were charged to expensecasred. We capitalize costs incurred
between the point of establishing technologicasiteitity and general release when such costs ateriah As of December 31, 2002 and
2001, we had no capitalized internal developmestscfor computer software developed for resale dilenot capitalize any internal Web <
development costs during 2002 or 2001 since this ¢cekated to planning or operation of such proslactd sites. The costs incurred with
respect to our Internet-based learning products/deld sites were incurred prior to the adoption IGfFENo. 00-2.

Goodwill, intangibles and other long-lived assets

We account for goodwill and intangibles and otloergHived assets in accordance with Statementradrigial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Intangible Assetahd SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the ImpairmenDisposal of Long-Lived Assets.”
As discussed further in Notes 1 and 6 to the Cadetald Financial Statements, we adopted both SFAS N2 and 144 effective January 1,
2002. We measure for impairment at the reportiriglewel using a discounted cash flow model to datee the estimated fair value of the
reporting units. Our discounted cash flow modeltamrs significant assumptions and accounting eséimabout discount rates, future cash
flows and terminal values that could materiallyeaffour operating results or financial positiothi#y were to change significantly in the
future. We perform our goodwill impairment test wkeer events or changes in facts or circumstamgisate that impairment may exist and
also during the fourth quarter each year.

In connection with our adoption of SFAS No. 142, seenpleted a transitional goodwill impairment exaion. As a result of this evaluation,
we recognized a transitional impairment loss 003$8illion. This impairment evaluation included siiggant assumptions and accounting
estimates as described above.

Through December 31, 2001, we accounted for gobdwi intangibles in accordance with AccountinghBiples Board Opinion No. 17,
“Intangible Assets” and other long-lived assetadeordance with SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for thhirment of Long-Lived Assets and
for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” (“Statern&21”). In accordance with Statement 121, weewed internal and external factors to
determine whether events or changes in facts androstances were present and indicative of an immeait of long-lived assets. This review
included estimates of future cash flows relatesuich long-lived assets. As discussed in Notes Mandhe Consolidated Financial
Statements, we recorded charges of approximaté€l$,$00 and $712,000 related to impairments of lloreg assets during the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Strategic Alliances

Effective October 1, 2001, we entered into a new-fgear agreement with HCA Information Technologysérvices, Inc. (“HCA”), replacing
the prior agreement with Columbia Information SgséeInc. that had approximately two and one hadfry@gemaining. Together with HCA,
we mutually agreed to cancel the warrant held iy Bbldings, Inc., an affiliate of HCA, to purchase& common stock. As a result, we are
no longer amortizing the remaining cost of the watras a reduction of revenues. See Note 3 of timsdlidated Financial Statements for
additional information. Revenues from April 1, 20B@ough September 2001, provided under the penriee agreement that included the
grant of the warrant to CIS Holdings, Inc., wereagnized as services were rendered, net of thetamaion of the fair value of the related
warrant as a reduction of the revenues proport@yatver the term of the four-year agreement.

In February 2000, we entered into a five-year agesd with WebMD Corporation, formerly Healtheon/Wéb (“WebMD”). The agreement
provided that we would be the exclusive provideeddication, continuing education and training se&wifor all healthcare organizations,
healthcare professionals and healthcare workegdl 8ieb sites owned or operated by WebMD in excledig certain guaranteed payments.
WebMD also purchased $10.0 million of our commarcktin a private sale that closed concurrently with IPO. During 2000, we expensed
and paid WebMD $1.5 million. At December 31, 20@@,accrued but did not pay royalties related te #gjreement of $1.5 million. On
January 5, 2001, we terminated the prior agreemihtWebMD and set forth a new business arrangentémder the new, non-exclusive
three-year agreement, we are a preferred providesrdinuing medical education, continuing educamd board preparation courses for
WebMD'’s professional portal. Under this new arrangat, financial consideration is based entirely@renues generated from the sale of
HealthStream’s services to WebMiprofessional portal customers. In connection tith new agreement, we recorded a gain of $1.5om
related to the renegotiation.

18




Table of Contents
Acquisitions
We have acquired the following companies since 20D6f which were accounted for using the purchas¢hod of accounting:

de’MEDICI System<On January 26, 2001, we acquired substantiallgfate assets of de’MEDICI Systems (“de’MEDICI")pasiness unit
of Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Inc., for approxnately $330,000 in cash and 181,250 shares of ¢hep@ny’s common stock. de’MEDICI
provided computer based education and trainingyéw 830 hospitals and healthcare organizations.dEfldEDICI business generates
installed learning management product and Intelbased learning revenues.

SynQuest Technologies, Ii@n September 18, 2000, we acquired substantidlbf #he assets of SynQuest Technologies, Inc.{Byest”)
for 787,087 shares of our common stock and assompficertain debt and other liabilities, $2.3 moill of which were repaid in connection
with the purchase transaction. SynQuest providéidetraining and education to hospitals and health organizations. The SynQuest
business generates installed learning managemeatigrand Internet-based learning revenues.

Education Design, IncOn July 1, 2000, we acquired substantially allhaf assets of Education Design, Inc. (“EDI”) forG#illion in cash
and 184,421 shares of our common stock. In addiipproximately $300,000 of cash and 31,711 shafrear common stock were provided
to the employees of EDI, subject to certain redcstock award agreements. EDI provided servizebvie educational events that are
supported by the medical device industry. The E3ifiess generates live continuing education agtiedenues.

EMINet, Inc.On January 28, 2000, we acquired substantiallgfaie assets of Emergency Medicine Internetwark, ti/b/a EMInet for
$640,000 in cash and 269,902 shares of our comitogk.dn addition, we issued 2,170 additional shareour common stock based on post
acquisition events. EMInet sold online medical edion content to emergency medical services pesoihe EMInet business generates
revenues related to sales of subscription products.

m3 the Healthcare Learning Compa®@n January 28, 2000, we acquired substantiallgfdtie assets and liabilities of Multimedia
Marketing, Inc. d/b/a m3 the Healthcare Learningnpany (“m3”) for $600,000 in cash and 818,037 shafeour common stock. m3
provided interactive, multimedia education andniray solutions to hospitals and other healthcagawizations. The m3 business generates
installed learning management product and Intelbased learning revenues.

Quick Study, IncOn January 11, 2000, the Company acquired subsligrdll of the assets and liabilities of Quick &mu Inc. (“Quick

Study”) for $59,000 in cash and 61,397 shares®fdbmpany’s common stock. In addition, the Compasyed 6,669 additional shares of
common stock based on post acquisition events.k&tiedy published CD-ROM and network-based prodfotthe healthcare industry. The
Quick Study business generates installed learniagagement product and Internet-based learning ptoduenues.

KnowledgeReview, LL(On January 3, 2000, the Company acquired subdtgraibof the assets of KnowledgeReview, LLC (&b/
“CMECourses.com”) for $310,000 in cash and 17,3 as of the Company’s common stock. KnowledgeRewviened and operated an
Internet Web page that provided a search engirtdhtiped physicians locate continuing medical etlanay specialty and facilitated online
registration for such courses. The CMECourses.casinkgss generates one-time sales of CD-ROM proadmnctgenerates traffic for our
online courseware sales.

As a result of these acquisitions and other aciijuiss consummated prior to 2000, we had recordedigdl of $18.3 million and $6.9 millio

of other acquisition intangibles at December 3D2@oodwill and intangibles, net of accumulatedeination totaled approximately

$5.0 million and $11.9 million as of December 3002 and 2001, respectively, and represented 15rtPR4.1% of total assets and 19.1%
and 27.9% of total shareholders’ equity at Decen3ie2002 and 2001, respectively. Our weightedayeramortization period is 3.5 years.
In addition to the impact of estimates on the ongavaluation of the carrying value of goodwillta@ngible and other long-lived assets,
significant estimates were involved in recording #bove acquisitions using the fair value methagiplarovided for under the purchase
method of accounting. Such estimates impactedahe=s assigned to the assets purchased and iebdisumed as well as establishment of
the estimated useful lives of the related tanggnlé intangible assets.

In addition to the accounting policies and sigrifitestimates discussed above, additional estimata®quired in preparing our consolidated
financial statements. The critical accounting eates not discussed above include estimates retatma allowance for doubtful accounts ¢
product development. As described further in Note the Consolidated Financial Statements, we estirour allowance for doubtful

accounts using a specific identification methodellasn the facts and circumstances at each evaluddie as well as providing for an
additional allowance for accounts not specificédigntified as potentially uncollectible. In connieatwith product development, our
significant estimates involve the assessment tinelogical feasibility for new products, as wellthe expected useful life of costs associated
with new products and content. Once capitalizeddpet and content development costs are subjébetpolicies and estimates described
above regarding goodwill, intangible and other Kirgd assets.
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To date, we have incurred substantial costs toldpvaur technologies, create, license and acquireontent, build brand awareness, dev
our infrastructure and expand our business, and fiavto achieve sufficient revenues to generasétipe operating cash flows. As a result,
we have incurred operating losses in each fiscaftgusince 1994. We expect operating losses toreanthrough 2003 as we continue to
expand our business and develop and sell new pi®dnd services. These costs could have a madevalse effect on our future financial
condition or operating results. We believe thatquktoperiod comparisons of our financial results prmdanuary 1, 2002 are not necessi
meaningful, and you should not rely upon them amditation of our future performance.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Revenues and Expense Components

The following descriptions of the components oferewes and expenses apply to the comparison ofsedldperations. As discussed in Note
1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, wetegaducing discrete financial information undeotweportable segments during 2001,
HCO and PMD. As a result of this change, we hawsigded comparative financial data for these segmfamt2002 and 2001 and have
provided comparative 2000 information to the extnth information was prepared.

RevenuesRevenues for our HCO business unit currently comdithe provision of services through our Interbased learning products, the
licensing of our installed learning management potsl maintenance and support services, contestgpbons and online development.
Revenues for our PMD business unit consist of endind live event development, coordination andstesgion services, online products and
commercial support, sale of online enduring proslactd training services, and Web cast events.

Cost of Revenue€ost of revenues consists primarily of salariesemgloyee benefits, materials, hosting costs, dneralirect expenses
associated with revenues as well as royalties toaddntent providers and distribution partners Hasea percentage of revenues.

Product DevelopmenProduct development expenses consist primarihalafiies and employee benefits, third-party condéequisition costs,
costs associated with the development of contesheapenditures associated with maintaining, devetppnd operating our Web sites and
training delivery and administration platform. ldcétion, product development expenses are assdaidth the development of new produ

Sales and Marketing Expens&gailes and marketing expenses consist primarilplafies, commissions and employee benefits, aduagti
promotions, and related marketing costs.

Other General and Administrative Expeng@ther general and administrative expenses congisaply of salaries and employee benefits,
facility costs and fees for professional services.

Depreciation and AmortizatioiDepreciation and amortization consist of fixed aggpreciation, amortization of intangibles congadeto
have definite lives, and amortization of conteicemse fees, and royalties paid to content prositleat are of a fixed nature.

Other Income/Expens&he primary component of other income is interasbime related to interest earned on cash, cashiaenis and
investments in marketable securities. The primammonent of other expense is interest expensedetatcapital leases, other long term
obligations, debt and loans from related parties.

2002 Compared to 2001

RevenuesRevenues increased approximately $2.3 million,00%, to $15.8 million for 2002 from approximat&y3.5 million for 2001.
Revenues for 2002 consisted of $9.8 million for @O unit and $6.0 million for our PMD unit. In 2D0revenues consisted of $8.0 million
for our HCO unit and $5.5 million for our PMD unithe increase in HCO revenues over 2001 relatedgpily to growth in our Internet-
based learning network, increased content subgmrpand the cancellation of a warrant to purcltasecommon stock previously held by
HCA, which eliminated the amortization of the watraalue previously recognized as a reduction wénees for the first nine months of
2001. HCO revenues through September 2001 arerpieekseet of warrant expense of approximately $lilbom. PMD revenue increases
resulted primarily from live event services.

During 2002 the components of HCO revenues changegbared to 2001, as subscription revenues froninbeimet-based learning products
increased by approximately $2.3 million, while éhation of the warrant resulted in another $1.83iamlof the increase. The increase in
subscription revenues from our Internet-based iegrproducts is attributable to the growth in oateknet-based learning network, which was
comprised of approximately 580,000 activated subecs as of December 31, 2002, and as a resu#tivieding additional content to those
subscribers. These HCO revenue increases weré bffsteclines in revenues of approximately $2.0iomlfrom sales of licenses and
maintenance fees associated with our installedhilegrmanagement products, which is consistent
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with our strategy to transition these customemsuiolnternet-based learning products. We anticipatginuation of these trends in 2003.

During 2002, PMD revenues increased over 2001 pifyndue to approximately $900,000 of growth indievent development and
coordination services. These increases were ggrtifiset by declines of $400,000 in online devef@mt services and Web cast revenues.
The increase in live event development and cootidinaervices resulted from both providing additibservices to existing customers as
as sales to new customers. We expect PMD revenuesrease as well during 2003 due to increasedtpagion of existing customer
relationships as well as sales to new customenssi€®nt with the trends noted during 2002, wecgrdte reduced revenues derived from
online development services and no significantmees from our Web cast product during 2003.

During 2002, 45.3% of revenues related to our heebased learning products, 27.1% related todixant development and coordination
services, 13.3% related to maintenance and sufgestfor our installed learning management produ€ts8% related to online development
services, 2.0% related to our installed learningaggment product licensing fees and 2.0% relat®detb casts. During 2001, 26.7% of
revenues related to live event development cootidimaand registration services, 19.3% related &ntenance and support fees for our
installed learning management products, 14.9%eelti our Internet-based learning products, 12 &i¥ed to other transactions and product
sales (including commercial support), 11.3% reldtednline development services, 10.9% relatedutartstalled learning management
product licensing fees, and 4.2% related to Welkscas

Cost of Revenue€ost of revenues increased approximately $200@08.4%, to $6.0 million for 2002 from approximat&5.8 million for
2001. The increase resulted primarily from addaiccosts associated with increased expenses retativg event development and
coordination services, such as personnel expetrags] and contract labor. Cost of revenues ageepéage of revenues decreased from
42.7% for 2001 to 37.8% for 2002. This decrease parcentage of revenues resulted from the changeénue composition discussed
above.

Cost of revenues for our HCO unit decreased apprataly $700,000 from $2.6 million in 2001 to $1.9lion in 2002, and approximated
19.7% and 33.3% of revenues for 2002 and 2001eotisely. The decrease as a percentage of revéouear HCO unit is a result of
changes in revenue components, discussed abovedearehses in personnel expenses, travel, cotdtamnt and hosting fees. We expect that
the cost of revenues for the HCO unit will incredseing 2003, but decrease as a percentage ofuesers revenues from the Internet-based
learning products are expected to increase. Casivehues for the PMD unit increased approxima&&0,000 from $3.0 million in 2001 to
$3.7 million in 2002 , and approximated 61.1% aAdb% of revenues for 2002 and 2001, respectiveiis Percentage increased in 2002 due
to additional personnel expenses and other diests@ssociated with our live event developmentcaaddination services and the
redesignation of certain personnel and other diests associated with online development and obstrvices as costs of revenues in 2002,
which were previously designated as product devadog costs in 2001. We expect cost of revenuethé&oPMD unit to decrease as a
percentage of revenues during 2003 as a resutbeft in revenues associated with higher margimpets. Cost of revenues for our
unallocated corporate functions increased appraeiin&200,000 to $300,000 in 2002 from $100,002001. This increase is a result of
combining customer service and site operation &ffioto our corporate function.

Product DevelopmenProduct development expenses decreased approxy$&@0,000, or 7.2%, to $4.7 million for 2002 from
approximately $5.0 million for 2001. The reductiarproduct development expenses is associatedowitithange in focus away from the
development, maintenance, and support of our Iesttarning management products and certain coderelopment to an increased focus
on fewer specific new products. Product developregpenses as a percentage of revenues decred2®6% for 2002 from 37.3% for 2001.
The decrease as a percentage of revenues resoltedhicreased revenues and lower support costsiasss with our installed learning
management products and lower development cosisiatsd with content and application maintenance.

Product development expenses for the HCO unit aszé $500,000 from $2.7 million in 2001 to $3. 2ol in 2002, or 20.5%, and
approximated 33.2% and 33.8% of revenues for 2002801, respectively. The increase is relatetiealevelopment of certain content and
specific new products, but such increases werégfigroffset by declines associated with maintagnfawer installed learning management
products. Product development expenses for the BMOdecreased $400,000 from $1.1 million in 209%$700,000 in 2002, or 38.2%, and
approximated 10.9% and 19.1% of revenues for 20022801, respectively. The decrease is relateddédesignation of certain personnel
other direct costs associated with online develograad content services as a cost of revenuesuBtrddvelopment expenses for the PMD
unit during 2002 were focused on the developmentméw product, Hospital Direct. This product ieirded to expand our existing Internet-
based learning products by providing pharmaceugindl medical device companies with opportunitiggravide facility based personnel
online product training.

The unallocated corporate portion of our produsettgpment expenses decreased approximately $506@9051.3 million in 2001 to
$800,000 in 2002, or 39.4%, primarily resultingnfran increased focus on the development of cectaitent and new products for our HCO
unit. Our product development efforts have shiftedh platform development by corporate personn@dfll to specific new product
developments within the HCO and PMD units durin@20/Ne expect product development expenses dufig for
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both business units to decrease from the levelereeqpced during 2002, as we focus on the developofdawer new products.

Sales and Marketing Expens&siles and marketing expenses, including persomsés,ancreased by $500,000, or 9.0%, from $5.8aniln
2001 to approximately $6.4 million in 2002. Therase is a result of additional sales commissid$800,000 associated with higher new
contract values in 2002 compared to 2001. This@ee was partially offset by decreases in persaoplabd expenses and travel. Sales and
marketing expenses as a percentage of revenuesadedrfrom 43.7% in 2001 to 40.7% in 2002, primaxd a result of increased revenues.

Sales and marketing expenses for the HCO unitase@ approximately $300,000 from $4.6 million i92@0 $4.9 million in 2002, and
approximated 49.8% and 57.7% of revenues durin@ 20@ 2001, respectively. This percentage decréas#@D? due to increases in HCO
revenues and decreases in personnel expenseseaeldofr $300,000, offset by increases in sales casions of $600,000. Sales and
marketing expenses for the PMD unit increased agymiaztely $200,000 from $1.3 million in 2001 to $hdllion in 2002, and approximated
24.7% and 23.4% of revenues during 2002 and 2@3pectively. The percentage increased during 20@2aladditional sales commissions
associated with higher new contract values dur@e2and an increase in personnel compared to 2U8kxpect sales and marketing
expenses for the HCO unit to decrease in totalasna percentage of revenues during 2003, primasiky result of changes in our commission
structure and due to the expected increases imuege We expect sales and marketing expensessf&MID unit to increase during 2003, but
be comparable to 2002 as a percentage of revenee® dhe expected increases in revenues.

Depreciation and AmortizatioiDepreciation and amortization decreased by $5.komjlor 73.2%, from $9.9 million for 2001 to
approximately $4.4 million for 2002. The decreasatiributable to the discontinuation of goodwiti@tization, which resulted from the
implementation of new accounting standards durid@P2 We expect depreciation to increase as a resolw capital expenditures during
2003, while we expect amortization to decreasesdsio intangible assets and other long-lived asset fully amortized.

Other General and Administrativ®ther general and administrative expenses decregg@dximately $700,000, or 10.0%, from $7.1 millio
for 2001 to approximately $6.4 million for 2002.dixding the gain on the WebMD contract renegotratd$1.5 million during 2001, other
general and administrative expenses decreasedxamately $2.2 million, or 31.1%, primarily as a vésof consolidating offices and
corporate functions. Other general and adminiseatxpenses as a percentage of revenues decrea2é% for 2002 from 52.8% for 2001.

Other general and administrative expenses for 8® lnit decreased $1.4 million from $2.5 million2@01 to $1.1 million in 2002, and
approximated 11.6% and 31.4% of revenues for 20022801, respectively. The percentage decreasadesult of increased revenues and
lower expenses associated with the consolidatiaffafes. Other general and administrative expefaethe PMD unit were comparable
between 2002 and 2001, approximating 15.7% andd6frevenues, respectively. Other general and midtrative expenses for our
unallocated corporate functions, excluding the gairthe WebMD contract renegotiation of $1.5 millidecreased $900,000 from

$5.2 million in 2001 to $4.3 million in 2002, or B84, primarily as a result of consolidating offi@sd corporate functions. We expect other
general and administrative expenses for 2003 teedse in total and as a percentage of revenuesesslaof the consolidation of corporate
functions and expected increases in revenues.

Office Consolidation Chargdhe Company recorded office consolidation chargezd0D2 and 2001, totaling approximately $165,000 an
$401,000, respectively, as a result of closurdnefRaleigh office in 2002 and the Dallas and Bosffices in 2001. The charge in 2002
consisted of lease obligations in excess of estithatiblease income. The charge in 2001 consistiedied obligations in excess of estimated
sublease income and impairment of certain fixeétas3 he closure of these facilities resulted ftammCompany’s actions to consolidate
facilities and eliminate duplicative tasks in ortiemaximize economies of scale within the orgatra

Impairment of Lon-lived Assets The Company recorded impairment charges in 26022801 totaling approximately $105,000 and
$712,000, respectively. During 2002, the impairmess resulted from prepaid content developmerg feewhich the future estimated cash
flows did not exceed the carrying value of thetetdacontent. During 2001, approximately $400,00thefimpairment related to prepaid
content development fees for which the future estid cash flows did not exceed the carrying vafuberelated content. In addition, during
2001 we recognized a loss of approximately $312r8Ged to fixed assets that will not be usedutmrle operations. The assets were written
down to their estimated fair value, net of sellawgts.

Other Income/Expens@®ther income/expense decreased $1.1 million, or, 8% income of $1.8 million for 2001 to income of
approximately $700,000 for 2002. The decrease tesbfilom a reduction of interest income from inwesits in marketable securities due to
lower invested balances and to a lesser degreey ipeld rates. We expect other income/expenserttircue to decrease during 2003
primarily due to cash from invested balances usexperations.
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Cumulative effect of a change in accounting priteie adopted SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Intangibleséts,”effective January 1, 20(
In accordance with the transitional adoption priovis of SFAS No. 142, we recorded a non-cash gdbiompairment charge associated with
our HCO unit of $5.0 million. The non-cash chargs been recorded as a cumulative effect of a charegeounting principle as of

January 1, 2002. See Note 6 to the ConsolidateghEial Statements for additional information.

Net LossNet loss decreased approximately $3.0 million,%0%, from a loss of $19.6 million for 2001 to admf approximately

$16.6 million for 2002, due to the factors mentidrdove. Pro forma net loss, adjusted for the diseoation of goodwill amortization of
$5.3 million and adjusted for the cumulative effeta change in accounting principle of $5.0 milli@ecreased $2.6 million, or 13.1%, to a
pro forma loss of $11.6 million for 2002 from a gooma loss of $14.2 million for 2001.

2001 Compared to 2000

RevenuesRevenues increased approximately $3.8 million,38%, to $13.5 million for 2001 from approximaté§.7 million for 2000.
Revenues for 2001 consisted of $8.0 million for H&®@ $5.5 million for PMD. In 2000, revenues cotesisof $5.8 million for HCO and
$3.9 million for PMD. The growth in HCO revenueso2000 related primarily to growth in our Interietsed learning network, while PMD
increases resulted primarily from live event depeaient, coordination and registration services aategt with the full year impact of the
acquisition of EDI. Revenues for 2001 and 2000paesented net of warrant expense of approximatkely fillion and $1.0 million,
respectively.

During 2001, 26.7% of revenues related to live ¢development, coordination and registration sewid9.3% related to maintenance and
support fees for our installed learning managerperducts, 14.9% related to our Internet-based iegnproducts, 12.7% related to other
transactions and product sales (including commiescigport), 11.3% related to online developmentises, 10.9% related to our installed
learning management product licensing fees and 4e28ted to Web cast events. During 2000, 29.6%&wEnues related to our installed
learning management product licensing fees, 18€l&bead to live event development, coordination mauistration services, 14.5% related to
maintenance and support fees for our installecdhiegrmanagement products, 14.0% related to othas#éctions and product sales (including
commercial support), 13.9% related to online dewlent services, 5.6% related to Web cast eventd &3d related to Internet-based
learning products.

Cost of Revenue€ost of revenues increased approximately $1.4aonillor 32.5%, to $5.8 million for 2001 from appnmétely $4.4 million

for 2000. The increase was primarily due to addélgersonnel associated with implementation adrimgt-based learning products, higher
direct costs associated with live event developnardrdination and registration services and grawtbther direct expenses that increase
along with related revenues. As a percentage @mess, cost of revenues decreased to 42.7% forf2a@145.1% for 2000. This decrease as
a percentage of revenues resulted from lower @sstsciated with installed learning management misdand lower fixed costs associated
with Internet-based learning products. Cost of gomgproximated 33% of revenues for HCO and 55%\amues for PMD during 2001.

Product DevelopmenProduct development expenses decreased approxyr$&@0,000, or 10.6%, to $5.0 million for 2001 from
approximately $5.6 million for 2000. As a percerad revenues, product development expenses decréa87.3% for 2001 from 58.4% for
2000. This decrease was due primarily to lowelited learning management product support costeluRt development expenses as a
percentage of revenues approximated 34% for HCQL8#& for PMD in 2001.

Sales and Marketing Expens&sles and marketing expenses, including persommséd,ancreased by $100,000, or 1.8%, to $5.9onillin

2001 from $5.8 million in 2000. The increase redgpeimarily to an increase of $700,000 relateddospnnel costs associated with additional
sales personnel and the full year impact of the(®yast acquisition in September 2000 as well agaszd commissions associated with new
contract value in 2001. This increase was partigfilget by a decrease of $600,000 associated wxtked advertising and marketing spending
in 2001. As a percentage of revenues, sales arkethag expenses decreased to 43.7% in 2001 frof%60h 2000. Sales and marketing as a
percentage of revenues approximated 58% for HC(2a#& for PMD for 2001.

Depreciation and AmortizatioiDepreciation and amortization increased by $3.0anil or 44.0%, to $9.9 million for 2001 from $618llion
for 2000. The increase consisted of a $2.2 milifmmease in amortization, primarily associated wiith 2001 acquisition of de’MEDICI and
the full year impact of the 2000 acquisitions oh@uest and EDI. The depreciation increase of $0&mrelated to the impact of fixed as:
additions associated with the acquisitions andelaakled in the normal course of business.

Other General and Administrativ®ther general and administrative expenses decregg®dximately $2.5 million, or 26.1%, to
approximately $7.1 million for 2001 from approxirat $9.6 million for 2000. As a percentage of raves) other general and administrative
expenses decreased to 52.8% for 2001 from 99.9%0f@®. The decrease is attributable to a $1.5amiljjain on the renegotiation of the
WebMD agreement during 2001 as well as the elirmonatf $3.0 million in fixed royalties incurred dog 2000 associated with the WebMD
arrangement. The gain and decline in fixed royalvere somewhat offset by the full year impachef t
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SynQuest and EDI acquisitions, which resulted idittmhal administrative personnel and facility erpes. The impact of these acquisitions
was partially mitigated by the consolidation oficés and administrative functions during 2001. ®tfeneral and administrative expenses as
a percentage of revenues approximated 31% for H&OL&% for PMD during 2001.

Office Consolidation Charg&.he Company recorded a non-recurring office codstitbn charge in 2001, totaling approximately $800, as
a result of closure of its Dallas and Boston officEhe charge consisted of lease obligations iesxof estimated sublease income and
impairment of certain fixed assets. The closurthe$e facilities resulted from the Company’s effad consolidate facilities and eliminate
duplicative tasks in order to maximize economiesazfle within the organization.

Impairment of Lon-lived Assets The Company recorded an impairment charge in 20@ling approximately $712,000. Approximately
$400,000 of the impairment related to prepaid aundevelopment fees for which the future estimatzsh flows exceeded the anticipated
future revenues to be generated from the contemtddlition, we recognized a loss of approximat@¥25000 related to fixed assets that will
not be used in future operations. The assets weatiemdown to their estimated fair value, lesstsas sell.

Other Income/Expens@ther income decreased $600,000, or 24.6%, to appabtely $1.8 million for 2001 from approximatel2.€ million
for 2000. The decrease was primarily due to a réaluof interest income from investments. We exmiaer income to continue to decrease
during 2002 primarily due to cash used in operation

Net LossNet loss decreased approximately $700,000, or 3t&%pproximately $19.6 million for 2001 from appimately $20.3 million for
2000 due to the factors mentioned above.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY OPERATING RESULTS

The following tables set forth selected stateméioiperations data for the eight quarters ended Dbee 31, 2002 and 2001 both in absolute
dollars and as a percentage of total revenuesiriftienation for each quarter has been preparedibstantially the same basis as the audited
statements included in other parts of this repodt; @ our opinion, includes all adjustments, cstisg of only normal recurring adjustments,
necessary for a fair presentation of the resultgpefations for these periods. You should readitiisemation in conjunction with
HealthStream’s Consolidated Financial Statemendsralated notes thereto included elsewhere inréert. The operating results for any
quarter are not necessarily indicative of the tsgol be expected in the future.

Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2002 2002 2002 2002

(In thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenues, ne¢ $ 353 $4,13¢ $ 4,05¢ $ 4,068
Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 1,832 1,55¢ 1,34¢ 1,231
Product developmel 1,00¢ 1,215 1,212 1,241
Sales and marketir 1,561 1,65¢ 1,48( 1,72
Depreciatior 44¢ 39¢ 39t 391
Amortization 71z 732 68t 63C
Other general and administrative exper 1,64¢ 1,881 1,48¢ 1,391
Office consolidation charg — 97 — 67
Impairment of lon-lived asset: — — — 10t
Total operating costs and expen 7,212 7,54: 6,61( 6,78:
Loss from operation (3,677) (3,409 (2,557) (2,720
Other income 24¢ 16¢ 171 12¢
Net loss before cumulative effect of a change toaating principle (3,429 (3,240) (2,38)) (2,597
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prite (5,000 — — —
Net loss $(8,429 $(3,240 $(2,38)) $(2,59))
| | | |

Net loss per shai— basic and diluted, before cumulative effect ohange in

accounting principle $ (0.1 $ (0.1¢) $ (0.12) $ (0.1
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec (0.25) — — —
Net loss per shar- basic and dilute $ (042 $ (0.1¢) $ (0.12) $ (0.19)
| | | |

Weighted average shares of common stock outsta— basic and dilute: 20,19¢ 20,25 20,29( 20,30¢
| | | |

Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2001 2001 2001 2001

(In thousands, except per share data)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenues, ne¢ $ 3,054 $ 3,528 $ 3,07¢ $ 3,84¢
Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 1,62¢ 1,17¢ 1,281 1,69(
Product developmel 1,20: 1,28¢ 1,26: 1,29(
Sales and marketir 1,40¢ 1,54¢ 1,42: 1,51¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,41( 2,47¢ 2,52¢ 2,52:
Other general and administrative exper 1,37: 2,22z 1,765 1,762
Office consolidation charg — 401 — —
Impairment of lon-lived asset: — — — 712
Total operating costs and expen 8,02( 9,107 8,261 9,492

Loss from operation (4,96¢) (5,589 (5,189 (5,649



Other income

Net loss

Net loss per shai- basic and dilute:

Weighted average shares of common stock outstardizgic and
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Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2002 2002 2002 2002

(% of Revenues)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenue! 100.( 100.( 100.( 100.(

Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 51.¢ 37.7 33.2 30.2
Product developmel 28.t 29.t 29.¢ 30.t
Sales and marketir 442 40.1 36.5 425
Depreciatior 12.7 9.€ 9.7 9.€
Amortization 20.2 17.7 16.€ 15.t
Other general and administrative exper 46.7 45.5 36.7 34.2
Office consolidation charg — 2.4 — 1.7
Impairment of lon-lived asset: — — — 2.€
Total operating costs and expen 204.C 182.t 163.( 167.C
Loss from operation (104.7) (82.5) (63.0 (67.0
Other income 7.C 4.1 4.2 3.2
Net loss before cumulative effect of a change toaating principle (97.7) (78.9) (58.9) (63.9)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec (141.9) — — —
Net loss (238.5) (78.9) (58.9) (63.¢)
| I I |

Quarter Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2001 2001 2001 2001

(% of Revenues)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA

Revenue: 100.( 100.( 100.( 100.(

Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 53.: 33.2 41.¢€ 43.€
Product developmel 39.4 36.5 41.C 33.t
Sales and marketir 46.1 43.¢ 46.2 39.4
Depreciation and amortizatic 78.¢ 70.2 82.1 65.5
Other general and administrative exper 44.¢ 63.1 57.4 45.¢
Office consolidation charg — 11.4 — —
Impairment of lon-lived asset: — — — 18.t
Total operating costs and expen 262.¢ 258.t 268.: 246.¢
Loss from operation (162.¢ (158.5 (168.9) (146.¢)
Other income 19.2 10.7 12.¢ 11.€
Net loss (143.9 (147.9) (155.5) (135.0
] | | |

Factors Affecting Quarterly Operating Results

Revenues from installed learning management systesysbe subject to fluctuations because purchdsbese licenses typically are incluc
in customerstapital expenditure budgets, and sales of produadsservices to pharmaceutical and medical devioganies can be subjec
seasonal factors as a result of timing of confezsrand live events as well as drug and producidntitions and budget cycles for such
companies. During the first quarter of 2002, weorded a $5.0 million charge as a cumulative effée change in accounting principle as a
result of applying new accounting rules for goodi{#lee Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial States)eDuring the second and fourth
quarters of 2002, we recorded office consolidatibarges for the closure of our Raleigh, NC offidaring the second quarter of 2001, we
closed our Boston, MA and Dallas, TX office locatsoand recorded an office consolidation chargethEurduring our evaluation of long-
lived assets in the fourth quarter of 2002 and 20@&lrecorded certain impairment charges (See Mttehe Consolidated Financial
Statements). Effective October 1, 2001 we no loageortize the cost associated with a warrant held dustomer as a reduction of reven



(See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Stateshent
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have financed our operatlargely through proceeds from our IPO, privatepents of equity securities, loans
from related parties and, to an increasing exfent) revenues generated from the sale of our pitsdutd services.

Net cash used in operating activities was approtéin&5.8 million in 2002 compared to $9.7 milliean2001. Cash used in operati

activities during 2002 related to the $16.6 millioet loss, increases in restricted cash and prefgsidlopment fees and decreases in accounts
payable. These operating uses of cash were offstiet$5.0 million cumulative effect of a changeatounting principle, depreciation and
amortization of $4.4 million, office consolidati@harge of $200,000, impairment charge of $100,0@D%800,000 for the provision for
doubtful accounts. In addition, a $400,000 dedimaccounts and unbilled receivables, $200,000imkeah
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interest receivable, $400,000 decline in othertassmed $300,000 of increases in registration ligdsl also provided an offset to the 2002 cash
uses described above. Cash used in operatingtediduring 2001 related to the $19.6 million ressl, the $1.5 million gain on the WebMD
renegotiation, increases in accounts and unbiedivables, prepaid development fees, decreasesaunts payable and accrued liabilities
and compensation and registration liabilities. Ehegerating uses of cash were offset by non-castamtzexpense of $1.5 million, office
consolidation charge of $400,000, impairment chsugfe$700,000, depreciation and amortization andipion for doubtful accounts, as well
as other non-cash expenses. In addition, the dezipaestricted cash, interest receivable, othepgid expenses and other current assets,
other assets and the decrease in deferred revisweftset the uses of cash during 2001.

Net cash provided by investing activities was agpnately $5.3 million in 2002 while approximatel.$ million was used during 200
Cash provided by investing activities during 2082ulted from the proceeds from the sales and ntiegidf marketable securities of

$15.6 million, offset by the purchase of marketa#eurities of $9.7 million and purchase of properid equipment of $600,000. The net
cash received from sales, maturities and purchafsesrketable securities were partially used tadfoperations. Cash used in investing
activities during 2001 was primarily related to thechase of marketable securities of $11.3 mi/lfmoperty and equipment of $1.6 million,
issuance of a note receivable of $200,000 anddbeisition of de’MEDICI Systems of $300,000, whiekre offset by the sales and
maturities of marketable securities of $10.1 millend the $100,000 received for the repaymentrafte.

Cash used in financing activities was approxima$dl90,000 and $2.3 million in 2002 and 2001, retpely. Cash used in financing
activities during 2002 primarily related to payrmenhder capital lease obligations, offset by tkaasce of common stock for our Employee
Stock Purchase Plan. Cash used in financing a@esvituring 2001 related to the repurchase of 11M1Ml1shares of common stock from
WebMD for $2.0 million and $300,000 related to p&yns under capital lease obligations. This usa@®@i was offset by the issuance of
common stock under the Employee Stock PurchasedPidexercise of stock options of approximately®Q00.

As of December 31, 2002, our primary source ofitlgy was $20.4 million of cash and cash equivadergstricted cash, investments in
marketable securities, and related interest reb&vaVe have no bank credit facility or other in@elmess other than capital lease obligations.
As of February 28, 2003, we had cash and cash &lguits, restricted cash, investments and relatedeist receivable of approximately

$19.9 million.

We believe that our cash and cash equivalentsiatest cash, investments in marketable securitigsralated interest receivable will be
sufficient to meet anticipated cash needs for wayliapital, new product development, capital exjgares and acquisitions for at least the
next 12 months. Our growth strategy may also ineladquiring companies that complement our prodamdisservices. We anticipate that
these acquisitions, if any, will be effected thrbugcombination of stock and cash consideratioitufieato generate sufficient cash flow from
operations or raise additional capital when regliering or following that period in sufficient ammts and on terms acceptable to us could
harm our business, financial condition and resfligperations.

Commitments and Contingencies

In connection with our October 2001 agreement Wi@A, HCA will pay us minimum revenues of $12.0 naifl over the four-year term of
the agreement. We expect that our capital expemiiidse approximately $1.0 to $1.5 million in 2003.

Our strategic alliances have typically providedgayments to content and distribution partnersdmetlopment partners based on revenues,
and we expect to continue similar arrangementkerfuture. In addition to these commitments, weeheapital lease obligations and opera
lease commitments for our operating facilities asNville, TN and Denver, CO, and closed facilite®allas, TX and Raleigh, NC.

A summary of future anticipated payments for commeiits and other contractual obligations are owutlinelow:

Payments due by period

More than
Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5years 5 years Total
Capital lease obligatior $ 74,17¢ $ 42,98: $ — $— $ 117,16(
Operating lease 675,43¢ 759,36! 2,53( — 1,437,33.
Other contractual obligatior 507,50( 316,87! —  — 824,37!
Total $1,333,94 $1,330,61- $7,971 $— $2,378,86!
| | | | |

Other contractual obligations consist of fixed coitnments resulting from agreements with various hess partners.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
None.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Actiogrfor Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal kittes” (“Statement 146”).
Statement 146 addresses financial accounting gruodtieg for costs associated with exit or disp@sdivities and supercedes EITF Issue

No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Teination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an A¢yiyincluding Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring)” (“Issue 94-3"). Statnt 146 requires that a liability for a cost agsed with an exit or disposal activity be
recognized when the liability is incurred. Undesus 94-3, a liability for an exit cost as generdiyined in Issue 94-3 was recognized at the
date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. Phevisions of Statement 146 are effective for exitisposal activities that are initiated
after December 31, 2002, with early applicationcemaged. We adopted Statement 146 effective W02, and it did not have a material
effect on our consolidated financial position csuks from operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148¢ctliating for Stock-Based Compensation-Transitioth Risclosure,” which amends
SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 148 provides alternativehmes of transition for a voluntary change to thevalue-based method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation and ameadfigblosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to reguiore prominent and more
frequent disclosures in financial statements abmueffects of stock-based compensation. SFAS Hi® id effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years ending after December 0622and interim disclosure provisions are effexfiw financial reports containing financial
statements for interim periods beginning after Detwer 15, 2002. We have elected to account for tmeksbased compensation plans under
the intrinsic value-based method of accountinggibed by APB 25 and do not utilize the fair vatnethod. However, we have adopted the
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, and wetdothe additional disclosure requirements asifipgin SFAS No. 148 for the year-
ended December 31, 2002.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

We are exposed to market risk from changes inésteates. We do not have any foreign currencyangh rate risk or commodity price risk.
As of December 31, 2002, we had no outstandingbitedimess other than approximately $108,000 of aldpiase arrangements. Accordingly,
the Company is not exposed to significant interats market risk. The Company is exposed to maigletwvith respect to its cash and
investment balances. At December 31, 2002, the @agnpad cash and cash equivalents, restricted iceagstments in marketable securities,
and related interest receivable totaling approxéhya$20.4 million. At this investment level, a hypetical 10% decrease in interest rates
would decrease interest income and increase theswebn an annualized basis by approximately S84,

The Company manages its investment risk by invgstircorporate debt securities, foreign corporatet édnd secured corporate debt
securities with minimum acceptable credit ratirfgs:. certificates of deposit and corporate obligaiaatings must be A2/A or better; A1/P1
or better for commercial paper; A2/A or better taxable or tax advantaged auction rate securitidsfA or better for tax free auction rate
securities. The Company also requires that allr#gEs must mature within 24 months from the oradisettlement date, the average portfolio
shall not exceed 18 months, and the greater of A&0$6.0 million shall mature within 90 days. Furtithe Company’s investment policy also
limits concentration exposure and other poteniskl areas. The average portfolio maturity of omestments in marketable securities was
nine months at December 31, 2002.

The above market risk discussion and the estimatealints presented are forward-looking statementsaoket risk assuming the occurrence
of certain adverse market conditions. Actual resinlitthe future may differ materially from thosejacted as a result of actual developments
in the market.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
HealthStream, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of HealthStream, Inc., as of Decembe2@®X, and 2001, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholeiguity (deficit), and cash flows for each of tineee years in the period ended
December 31, 2002. These financial statementharsesponsibility of the Company’s management. i@sponsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audi&bagdards generally accepted in the United Statesse standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout whether the financial statements are fregaterial misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdhe amounts and disclosures in the finarsteements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well agatirg the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated financial position of
HealthStream, Inc. at December 31, 2002 and 20@@ltre consolidated results of its operations &ddsh flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2002, in confgrmith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst@ements, in 2002, the Company changed itsadaethaccounting for goodwill and ott
intangible assets upon adoption of a new accoumstisugdard.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Nashville, Tennesse
February 12, 2003
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2002

December 31,
2001

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Investments in short term marketable secur
Restricted cas
Interest receivabl
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $295,704 and
$288,158 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respec
Accounts receivabl- unbilled
Prepaid development fees, net of amortiza
Other prepaid expenses and other current a

Total current asse
Property and equipmer
Furniture and fixture
Equipment
Leasehold improvemen

Less accumulated depreciation and amortize

Goodwill

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortizaifdb,211,965 and $3,295,675 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respecti

Investments in marketable securit

Notes receivabl- related party

Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued liabilities

Accrued compensation and related expel

Registration liabilities

Deferred revenu

Current portion of capital lease obligatic

Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations, less current por
Commitments and contingenci
Shareholder equity:

Common stock, no par value, 75,000,000 shares angiao 20,322,687 and
20,372,542 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2002 and 2001,
respectively

Accumulated other comprehensive incc

Accumulated defici

Total shareholde’ equity

Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

$ 4,069,63.
12,087,00
835,43
306,50

3,346,35!
248,43¢
406,41t
587,74¢

21,887,53

930,65
4,361,46!
1,232,08

6,524,20!
(3,855,92)

2,668,28!
3,306,68!

1,650,17
3,066,06
233,00¢
101,45

$32,913,21

$ 718,80:
1,179,79
763,52:
900,65
3,346,22.
66,92¢

6,975,92.
41,01:

91,223,05
125,53
(65,452,30)

25,896,28

$32,913,21

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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$ 4,747,43
12,701,08
520,18
537,58!

3,776,63!
566,06¢
1,030,84:
649,54:

24,529,37

990,99.
4,566,34.
1,111,36!

6,668,69-
(2,974,34)

3,694,34
8,306,68t

3,566,46'
8,709,00:
215,00(
225,76(

$ 49,246,64

$ 889,25
943,61t
717,20(
633,78t

3,273,82!
126,73:

6,584,411
118,76¢

91,275,28
79,24(
(48,811,06)

42,543,45

$ 49,246,64
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Revenues, net of warrant expense of $-0- in 200289,933 in 2001, and $991,693
2000 $ 15,789,59 $ 13,503,30 $ 9,651,77
Operating costs and expens
Cost of revenue 5,970,49 5,772,32 4,356,81!
Product developmel 4,678,82 5,040,40 5,639,42.
Sales and marketir 6,425,02! 5,894,58! 5,790,94.
Depreciatior 1,632,96! 1,756,40. 920,50
Amortization of goodwill — 5,360,38! 4,460,73
Amortization of intangibles, content fees, fixegatiies, and prepaid compensat 2,761,50 2,819,44 1,519,78
Other general and administrative exper 6,409,57! 7,124,24 9,637,32
Office consolidation charg 164,78: 400,67¢ —
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 105,00( 712,34 —
Total operating costs and expen 28,148,17 34,880,81 32,325,53
Loss from operation (12,358,57) (21,377,50) (22,673,76)
Other income (expense
Interest and other incon 776,721 2,019,72 2,420,37!
Realized (loss) gain on investme — (99,920 94,43¢
Interest expens- related partie — — (34,25%)
Interest expens (29,926 (49,56¢) (92,099
Other expens (29,46)) (68,65%) —
717,33t 1,801,57 2,388,46.
Net loss, before cumulative effect of a changecitoanting principle (11,641,24) (19,575,92) (20,285,30)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec (5,000,00i) — —
Net loss $(16,641,24)  $(19,575,92)  $(20,285,30)
| | |
Net loss per shar
Basic and diluted net loss before cumulative efféc change in accounting princij $ (057 % 099 ¢ (2.29
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec (0.25) — —
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ 082 % 099 % (1.29
| | |
Weighted average shares of common stock outstan
Basic and dilutes 20,261,06 19,920,52 15,785,94
I I I

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEF ICIT)

Series A Series B
Convertible Convertible
Common Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance at December 31, 1¢ 4,165,46. $ 4,008,99. 76,000 $ 760,00( 1,228,80. $12,138,00

Net loss — — — — — —
Unrealized gain on investments in marketal

securities, net of ta — — — — — —
Comprehensive los —
Exercise of stock optior 801,99° 600,78t — — — —

Issuance of common stock in acquisitit 2,209,95: 12,949,43 — — — —
Issuance of common stock in initial public

offering 5,275,001 44,151,75 — — — —
Issuance of common stock in private offer 1,111,121 10,000,00 — — — —
Payment of expenses of initial public offeri — (1,977,62) — — — —

Conversion of preferred stock into common

stock in connection with initial public

offering 7,131,15: 19,172,06 (76,000 (760,000 (1,228,80) (12,138,00)
Conversion of related party notes payable i

common stock in connection with initial

public offering 553,71: 1,293,001 — — — —
Repurchase of common stock in connection

with the initial public offerinc (6,079 (14,219 — — — —
Recognition of warrant expen — 991,69: — — — —
Issuance of stock options for servit — 45,90( — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2C 21,242,31 91,221,77 — — — —
Net loss — — — — — —

Unrealized gain on investments in marketal
securities, net of reclassification adjustme

and tax — — — — — —
Comprehensive los — — — — — —
Exercise of stock optior 8,70( 10,557 — — — —
Issuance of common stock in acquisitit 181,25( 300,18t — — — —
Issuance of common stock to Employee St

Purchase Pla 53,60¢ 56,95¢ — — — —
Repurchase of shares in connection with

WebMD renegotiatiol (1,111,11) (1,981,44) — — — —
Cancellation of restricted sto (2,215 — — — — —
Valuation of WebMD repurchase rig — 120,00( — — — —
Issuance of stock options to advisory bo: — 57,31¢ — — — —
Recognition of warrant expen — 1,489,93. — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2C 20,372,54 91,275,28 — — — —
Net loss — — — — — —

Unrealized gain on investments in marketal

securities, net of ta — — — — — —
Comprehensive los — — — — _ _
Issuance of common stock to Employee St

Purchase Pla 35,77( 38,00¢ — — — —
Issuance of stock options to advisory bo: — 11,38t — — — —
Modification of stock option grar — 5,411 — — — —
Retirement of common stock in connection

with EMInet escrow resolutio (85,62%) (107,03) — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2C 20,322,68 $91,223,05 — % — — $ —

| | | | | |

(continued)
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEF ICIT) (continued)

Series C Accumulated
Convertible Other Compre- Total
Preferred Stock Accumulated hensive Income Shareholders’
Shares Amount Deficit (Loss) Equity (Deficit)
Balance at December 31, 1¢ 627,40t $ 6,274,60! $ (8,949,83)) $(41,69() $ 14,189,52
Net loss — — (20,285,30) — (20,285,30)
Unrealized gain on investments in marketa
securities, net of ta — — — 72,24¢ 72,24¢
Comprehensive los — — — — (20,213,05)
Exercise of stock optior — — — — 600,78¢
Issuance of common stock in acquisitit — — — — 12,949,43
Issuance of common stock in initial public
offering — — — — 44,151,75
Issuance of common stock in private offer — — — — 10,000,00
Payment of expenses of initial public offeri — — — — (1,977,62)
Conversion of preferred stock into common
stock in connection with initial public
offering (627,406 (6,274,60) — — —
Conversion of related party notes payable |
common stock in connection with initial
public offering — — — — 1,293,00!
Repurchase of common stock in connection
with the initial public offerinc — — — — (14,217
Recognition of warrant expen — — — — 991,69:
Issuance of stock options for servic — — — — 45,90(
Balance at December 31, 2C — — (29,235,13) 30,55¢ 62,017,19
Net loss — — (19,575,92) — (19,575,92)
Unrealized gain on investments in marketa
securities, net of reclassification adjustme
and tax — — — 48,68¢ 48,68¢
Comprehensive los — — — — (19,527,24)
Exercise of stock optior — — — — 10,557
Issuance of common stock in acquisitit — — — — 300,18t
Issuance of common stock to Employee St
Purchase Pla — — — — 56,95¢
Repurchase of shares in connection with
WebMD renegotiatiol — — — — (1,981,449
Cancellation of restricted sto — — — — —
Valuation of WebMD repurchase rig — — — — 120,00(
Issuance of stock options to advisory boz — — — — 57,31¢
Recognition of warrant expen — — — — 1,489,93:
Balance at December 31, 2C — — (48,811,06) 79,24( 42,543,45
Net loss — — (16,641,24) — (16,641,24)
Unrealized gain on investments in marketa
securities, net of ta — — — 46,29¢ 46,29¢
Comprehensive los — — — — (16,594,94)
Issuance of common stock to Employee St
Purchase Pla — — — — 38,00¢
Issuance of stock options to advisory bo: — — — — 11,38¢
Modification of stock option grar — — — — 5,411
Retirement of common stock in connection
with EMInet escrow resolutio — — — — (107,03)
Balance at December 31, 2C — $ — $(65,452,30) $125,53¢ $ 25,896,28
| | | | |

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciatior
Amortization of goodwiill
Amortization of intangibles, content fees, fixegatiies, and prepaid
compensatiol
Provision for doubtful accoun
Gain on WebMD renegotiatic
Office consolidation charg
Impairment of lon-lived asset:
Non cash warrant expen
Non cash compensation expel
Realized loss on disposal of property and equipt
Realized loss/(gain) on investme
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exatudffects of acquisition:
Accounts and unbilled receivabl
Restricted cas
Interest receivabl
Prepaid development fe
Other prepaid expenses and other current a
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities and compensati
Registration liabilities
Deferred revenu

Net cash used in operating activit
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir
Proceeds from maturities and sale of investmentsarketable securitie
Purchase of investments in marketable secul
Issuance of note receivat- related party
Repayments on note receiva
Purchase of property and equipm

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repurchase of common stock from Webl
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ofnding discount
Costs of issuing common sto
Repayment of note payat
Issuance of common stock to Employee Stock Purdhkmst
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Payments on lor-term debt related part
Repurchase of stock in connection with initial paloffering
Payments on capital lease obligatit

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Total cash and cash equivalents, restricted caghsiments in marketable
securities, and accrued interest at end of pe

2002

2001

For the Year Ended December 31,

2000

$(16,641,24)

1,632,96!

2,761,50
295,00(

164,78:
105,00(

16,79¢
18,63:

5,000,001

394,68:
(315,252
231,07
(127,319
(66,17¢)
419,79
(170,45)
117,71
266,861
72,39¢

(5,823,22)

15,568,33
(9,697,81)

(625,531

5,244,98

38,00¢

(137,560
(99,567)

(677,80
4,747,43.

$ 4,069,63.

$ 20,364,65

$(19,575,92)

1,756,40.
5,630,38!

2,819,44
150,00(
(1,500,001

400,67
712,34«
1,489,93
57,31¢
68,65t
99,92(

(562,75
274,15
40,94¢
(1,206,83)
203,30
382,01
(261,745)
(363,88Y)
(160,55
114,58;

(9,701,61)

(328,98%)
10,143,22
(11,263,43)

(215,00()
128,11¢
(1,588,44)

(3,124,51)

(1,981,44)

56,95¢
10,557

(343,08()
(2,257,01)

(15,083,13)
19,830,57

$ 4,747,43

$ 27,215,29

$(20,285,30)

920,50«
4,460,73

1,519,78;
85,00(

991,69:
45,90(

(94,439

(1,483,241
(141,08:)
(578,53
(792,90:)
(952,26:)

270,79
(319,16
2,054,541
139,49;
(416,19

(14,574,67)

(6,767,81))
122,27
(20,734,42)

(3,094,66!)

(30,474,62)

54,151,75
(1,977,62)
(1,180,00)

600,78t
(132,55
(14,215
(200,40%)

51,247,73

6,198,42!
13,632,14.

$ 19,830,57

$ 41,544,57



(continued)
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paic

Capital lease obligations incurr
Preferred stock converted into common st

Notes payabl~ related parties converted into common st

Issuance of common stock in connection with actjaisiof companie:

Issuance of common stock in exchange for profeatsarvice:
Issuance of common stock to advisory boi

Effects of acquisitions
Estimated fair value of assets acqui
Purchase price in excess of net assets acq
Estimated fair value of liabilities assum
Stock issuet

Cash paic
Less cash acquire

Net cash paid for acquisitiol

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
$29,92¢ $ 51,83 $ 126,35
| | |
$ — $ 83,67 $ 34354
| | |
$  — $ — $19,172,06
| | |
$ — $ — $ 1,293,00
| | |
$  — $ 300,18¢ $12,949,43
| | |
$ — $ — $  45,90(
| | |
$11,38¢ $ 57,31 $ —
| | |
$ — $ 5,000 $ 3,608,50:

— 1,036,49: 22,442,98
— (412,31) (6,173,05)
— (300,18¢) (12,949,43)
— 328,98t 6,928,99.
— — (161,18)
| | |
$  — $ 328,98 $ 6,767,81
| | |
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Reporting Entity

HealthStream, Inc. (“the Company”) was incorporéate#i990 as a Tennessee corporation and is bad¢alsinville, Tennessee. We changed
our name to HealthStream, Inc. from NewOrder Melia, on September 1, 1998. We provide Interneetda®lutions to meet the ongoing
training and continuing education needs of thetheate community. These solutions deliver and t@kputer based education for our
customers in the United States and Canada throughpplication service provider (“ASP”) productdanstalled learning management
products. We also provide the healthcare commumiity live event development, coordination and regison services, online development
services, translation of content into an interaczgxperience, and assistance in the developmeanher educational activities, provided in a
live format and via the Internet.

Business Segments

We operate our business in two segments: 1) serpicevided to healthcare organizations and prajesss, and 2) services provided to
pharmaceutical and medical device companies. Warberganizing the business under these two segrderitegy 2001, and accordingly, we
began tracking financial information on a more detbbasis. Through December 31, 2000, our revewaes primarily derived from one
business segment, the sale of education and tgggmrducts to the healthcare industry.

Services to healthcare organizations and profealanclude offerings of our Internet-based leagmnoducts, licensing, maintenance and
support of our installed learning management prtgjuwontent subscriptions, custom content developnaad a variety of online and
enduring products. Our services to pharmaceutitdinaedical device companies include online and a&titutal training activities for
healthcare professionals, as well as online trgifdn medical industry representatives.

In 2001, we began producing discrete financialrimiation under two reportable segments — healtheayanizations (“HCO") and
pharmaceutical and medical device companies (“PM&iyl accordingly, resource allocation decisiorts @arformance assessments began to
be made based on the discrete financial informdtothese segments. Because discrete financainretion about individual components
was not prepared for any periods prior to Decer3tie2000, comparative segment information for tharyended December 31, 2000 is not
provided.

Recognition of Revenue

Revenues are derived from providing services thnaug Internet-based learning products, licensinguo installed learning management
products, maintenance and support services, costdstriptions, online development, live event dgwaent, coordination and registration
services, Web site development, professional actthieal consulting services, online products androercial support, Web cast events, and
other education and training services. We haverediti@to commercial support agreements that invetre@ices and provide for varied
sources of revenue to us over the terms of thesaggats. In some cases revenues derived from cérdaisactions are shared with other
entities, in accordance with the term of the relasangements, as realized.

We recognize revenue in accordance with Statenfdposition (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recoigmit” SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue Recognition,” Emergisgues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 99-19 “Repgrfevenue Gross Versus Net,”
EITF Issue No. 00-21 “Revenue Arrangements withtild Deliverables” and other authoritative guidanthis guidance provides that
revenue recognized from software and other arrargésnis to be allocated to each element of thangerment based on the relative fair va
of the elements. While elements include softwaoslpcts, post contract customer support, instalatimd training, fair value of each elem
is based on objective evidence specific to the geréifair value cannot be determined for eachmadet of the arrangement, all revenue from
the arrangement is deferred until fair value caddtermined or until all elements of the arrangenaea delivered. Sales of our Interitsec
learning products include customer support, implaiatégon services, and training; therefore all raxenare deferred until the Internet-based
learning product is implemented, at which time rewes are recognized ratably over the subscripgovice period. In the event that
circumstances occur which give rise to uncertaiagarding the collectibility of contracted amoumesjenue recognition is suspended until
such uncertainty is resolved.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Recognition of Revenue (continued)

Revenues derived from the delivery of servicesuphoour Internet-based learning products and costdyscriptions are recognized ratably
over the term of the subscription service agreeniRewenues derived from the license of installedlig management products are
recognized upon shipment or installation of thevgafe. Software support and maintenance revengesaognized ratably over the term of
the related agreement. Revenues derived from codéselopment services or the sale of productsiiegusignificant modification or
customization, are recognized based on the pegemfacompletion method using labor hours. Othening revenues are generally
recognized upon the completion of training.

Live event registration services are recognizechupmmpletion of the related event. We recognizemee from live event development and
coordination services and Web cast events baséueqrercentage of completion method using laborshousimilar event milestones.
Revenues associated with commercial support armaeges are recognized either based on utilizatiocoafseware or over the support
period, depending on the scope of services providkdther revenues are recognized as the rels¢edces are performed or products are
delivered.

From April 1, 2000 through September 2001, we hpda service arrangement with HCA that includied grant of a warrant to purchase
our common stock. Revenues were recognized asesmiere rendered, net of the amortization of éivevhlue of the related warrant.

Effective October 1, 2001, we entered into a new-fgear agreement with HCA, replacing the prioreggnent that had approximately two
and one half years remaining in its term. Togetiithr HCA, we mutually agreed to cancel the waritagld by CIS Holdings, Inc. an affiliate
of HCA, to purchase our common stock. As a reswdtwill no longer amortize the remaining cost of tharrant as a reduction of revenues.
See Note 4 for additional information.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the Company and its subsidiaries, alltath are wholly-owned. All inter-
company accounts and transactions have been etadiiraconsolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with accounting principles geally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assus it affect the amounts reported in the findrstéements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimated anch differences could be material to the codatdid financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider cash and cash equivalents to be uictedirhighly liquid investments with initial matties of less than three months.
Restricted Cash

Cash received for live event registration feedassified as restricted cash on the accompanyingaimated balance sheets. The use of this
cash is restricted because it is held on behali@tommercial supporter of the live event untiVages have been rendered, at which time the
registration fees are used to pay certain expeaset$ees for conducting the live event. Excesssteggion funds are typically remitted to the
commercial supporter or applied to other projeatsy deficiency in registration funds are billedth® commercial supporter.
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HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company estimates its allowance for doubtfubaaots using a specific identification method. Mgaraent determines the allowance for
doubtful accounts on a case-by-case basis, bastttb dacts and circumstances surrounding each fatgruncollectible receivable. An
allowance is also maintained for accounts thahatespecifically identified that may become uncdiilele in the future. Uncollectible
receivables are written-off in the period manageretieves it has exhausted every opportunity tiecopayment from the customer. Bad
debt expense is recorded when events or circunestandicate an additional allowance is requirecetdas our specific identification
approach.

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accountstaachmounts charged to bad debt expense werelasdol

Allowance
Balance at Charged to Charged to Allowance
Beginning of Costs and Other Balance at
Period Expenses Accounts Write-Offs End of Period
Year ended December :
2002 $288,00( $295,00( $ — $287,00( $296,00(
2001 $198,00( $150,00( $ — $ 60,00( $288,00(
2000 $ 37,00( $ 85,00( $78,00( $ 2,000 $198,00(

The amount “charged to other accounts” represéetsitowance for doubtful accounts of acquired canigs.
Investments in marketable securities

Investments in marketable securities are classéfedvailable-for-sale and are stated at fair marddeie, with the unrealized gains and losses,
net of tax, reported in other comprehensive incom¢éhe accompanying consolidated balance sheedizB& gains and losses and decline
market value judged to be other-than-temporarnjnegestments in marketable securities are includeadtémest and other income on the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatidres cost of securities sold is based on the speadéntification method. Interest and
dividends on securities classified as availablesfle are included in interest and other incoméheraccompanying consolidated statements
of operations.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated on the basissbf Depreciation and amortization are providedhenstraight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives, except for assetder capital leases and leasehold improvemetiishvare amortized over the shorter of
estimated useful life or their respective leasmter

Years
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Equipment 3-5

Gooduwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase priee fair value of net tangible assets acquired. tighoDecember 31, 2001, goodwill was
amortized on a straight line basis over the explpéziods to be benefited, generally three to yiwars. Effective January 1, 2002 we
discontinued the amortization of goodwill upon guoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Stadd (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (“Statement 142")t8teent 142 no longer permits the amortization afdyell and other indefinite lived
intangible assets over a set period, rather thesst@amust be tested for impairment at least alynusihg a fair value method. We adopted
Statement 142 on January 1, 2002 and as requir&ddbyment 142, we completed the transitional gdbdwaluation and recorded a
transitional goodwill impairment charge of approgi@ly $5.0 million for our HCO business unit. Thanisitional goodwill impairment char
was recorded as a cumulative effect of a chan@edounting principle in the accompanying consoéidattatements of operations as of
January 1, 2002. We measure for impairment ateperting unit level using a discounted cash flondeldo determine the fair value of the
reporting units. We will perform our goodwill impaient test whenever events or changes in facts@mastances indicate that impairment
may exist, or at least annually during the fountlarger each year.

39






Table of Contents

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Gooduwill and Intangible Assets (continued)

Intangible assets are comprised of content, custéiste, non-competition agreements and favoraddsé rights. These intangible assets are
considered to have definite useful lives and aregoamortized on a straight line basis over thecetgd periods to be benefited, generally
three to five years for content, two to three ydarcustomer lists, six months to two years fonfwompetition agreements, and over the ¢
term for favorable lease rights. Favorable leagetsi represent the difference between contractualst and market rates for obligations under
lease contracts at the date of acquisition. Intalagissets are reviewed for impairment wheneventeva changes in facts or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets mohye recoverable.

Other Assets

Other assets are comprised of licensing feesptigeterm portion of content development fees ahdraissets of a long term nature.
Licensing and content development fees are amdrbased on the lives of the related agreementsecaidcreditation lives of the related
content, generally one to two years.

Long-Lived Assets

We account for assets of a long term nature (“lived assets”) in accordance with SFAS No. 144,¢éunting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” (“Statement 1444hich requires that companies consider whethertewanchanges in facts and
circumstances, both internally and externally, nmalcate that an impairment of long-lived assetsl ffier use are present. We adopted
Statement 144 effective January 1, 2002. UndeeSiant 144, we measure any impairment at the regoutiit level based on discounted
future cash flows from the reporting unit includitig long-lived assets. The cash flow estimatesdiswbunt rates incorporate management'’s
best estimates, using appropriate and customawyrge®ns and projections at the date of evaluation.

Through December 31, 2001, we accounted for loveglassets in accordance with SFAS No. 121, “Actogrior the Impairment of Long-
lived Assets and Long-lived Assets to be Disposgd“Statement 121"). In accordance with Statem&2t, we reviewed internal and
external factors to determine whether events ongésiin facts or circumstances were present arickitiee of an impairment of long-lived
assets. Under Statement 121, the review includigdages of future cash flows related to such langd assets.

Management periodically evaluated the carrying eafilongtived assets, including property and equipmenteo#ssets and intangible as
and determined that there was no impairment aseceBiber 31, 2000. We recorded impairment chardg®deto property and equipment
and certain content assets totaling approximatedp¥00 and $712,000 for the years ended Decenlh@082 and 2001, respectively. See
Note 4 for additional informatiot

Accounts Receivable-Unbilled and Deferred Revenue

Accounts receivable-unbilled represents revenueeebior contracts accounted for on the percentdgempletion basis for which invoices
have not been generated. Deferred revenue repsesmoiunts, which have been billed or collected notityet recognized in revenue.

Income Taxes
Income taxes have been provided using the liabitigthod in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounfior Income Taxes.”
Advertising

We expense the costs of advertising as incurregdordance with SOP 93-7, “Reporting on Advertistugts.” Advertising expense for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000ppasxdmately $483,000, $548,000, and $1,115,000eaets/ely.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Product Development Costs

Product development costs include the cost tonatr develop and convert content for our Interbased learning and installed learning
management products. We capitalize the cost okemrteveloped by third parties where the life exqey is greater than one year and the
anticipated cash flows from such content is expktiieexceed the cost of the content. During 20@R2001, we capitalized approximately
$100,000 and $1.3 million, respectively, relatethiod party content development. Such amountsretaded in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets under the captionpdjurelevelopment fees and other assets.” We amaartiatent development over its
expected life, which is generally one to two ye&mduct development and content development tloatdhiave been capitalized are subje
a periodic impairment review in accordance with palicy. During 2002 and 2001, we recorded impairta@harges of approximately
$105,000 and $400,000, respectively, with respecettain content development fees. See Note ddditional information.

We account for Web site development costs in aesare with EITF Issue No. 00-2 “Accounting for Weke®evelopment Costs,” which
provides guidance on capitalization versus expgnsfrcosts incurred to develop a Web site. Prodaetlopment costs incurred to establish
the technological feasibility of computer softwa@reducts, such as our installed learning managepreducts that are developed for resale,
and Internet-based learning products and Web gitesto June 30, 2000 were charged to expensecasred. We capitalize costs incurred
between the point of establishing technologicasifatity and general release when such costs aterrah As of December 31, 2002 and
2001, we had no capitalized internal developmestscfor computer software developed for resale dWlenot capitalize any internal Web <
development costs during 2002 or 2001 since thes ¢cekated to planning or operation of such proslactd sites. The costs incurred with
respect to our Internet-based learning products/del sites were incurred prior to the adoption dffEIssue No. 00-2.

Net Loss Per Share

We compute net loss per share following SFAS N@&, 1Parnings Per Share,” (“Statement 128"). Undher provisions of Statement 128,
basic net loss per share is computed by dividiegét loss available to common shareholders fopdéned by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding during the periodut®d net loss per share is computed by dividinghétdoss for the period by the weighted
average number of common and common equivalenésiwtstanding during the period. Common equivalkates, composed of
incremental common shares issuable upon the erastistock options and warrants, escrowed or msttishares, shares subject to vesting
and common shares issuable on assumed converssenie$ A, B and C convertible preferred stock,iactided in diluted net loss per share
to the extent these shares are dilutive. Commoivalgmt shares are not included in the computatiodiluted net loss per share for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 becauséédleon net loss per share would be anti-dikitiv

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Custaners

We place our temporary excess cash investmeniglinguality, short-term money market instrumentstites, such investments may be in
excess of the FDIC insurance limits.

We sell our learning management systems and othaadion services to various companies in the heate industry that are located in the
United States and Canada. We perform ongoing oeeditiations of our customers’ financial conditaord generally require no collateral
from customers. During 2002, we derived approxityat8.1%, or $2.9 million of net revenues from HQRuring 2001, we derived
approximately 11%, or $1.5 million, of net reveniresn HCA, net of warrant expense of approximatglys million (See Note 3). During
2000, no customer represented more than 10% dbtalmet revenue. The total amounts receivable fiiCA at December 31, 2002 and
2001 were approximately $240,000 and $800,000 gctisely.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Stock Based Compensation

We grant stock options for a fixed number of shéamemmployees and other parties with an exerciee piot less than the fair value of the
shares at the grant date. We account for stockmgtiants in accordance with Accounting Princifdesrd Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25ihd related interpretations. Under APB 25, becthesexercise price of our employee stock optio
not less than the market price of the underlyinglsbn the date of grant, no compensation expensxorded. To the extent that options are
issued to members of our advisory boards or nonleraps, the value of such options is measureddordence with the provisions of SFAS
No. 123,*Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“Statem®23”). During the years ended December 31, 22021, and 2000, we
recorded expense of approximately $17,000, $57 @39 $30,000, respectively, related to optionstghio advisory board members and
non-employees.

We account for our stock incentive plans in accocgawith APB 25. If the alternative method of aauting for stock incentive plans
prescribed by Statement 123 had been followedneutoss and net loss per share would have been:

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net loss as reporte
Pro forma compensation expet

Pro forma net los

Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per s

$(16,641,24)
842,51

$(17,483,75)

$ (0.8€)

$(19,575,92)
1,140,39

$(20,716,32)

$ (1.04)

$(20,285,30)
1,524,88

$(21,810,18)

$ (1.39)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following methods and assumptions were usedtimating fair value disclosures for financialtinsnents:

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted caee carrying amounts approximate the fair valueahse of the short-term maturity or short-term
nature of such instruments.

Accounts receivable, accounts receivi-unbilled, interest receivable, accounts payabtzraed liabilities and deferred revenughe
carrying amounts, net of any allowance for doubdftdounts, approximate the fair value becauseeo§hiort-term nature of such instruments.

Notes receivableThe carrying amounts approximate fair value basethe consideration provided and the estimatedideretion expected
to be received.

Investments in marketable securitiThe carrying amounts approximate the fair valueetdam quoted market prices.
Newly Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Actiogrfor Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal iittes,” (“Statement 146”).
Statement 146 addresses financial accounting quitheg for costs associated with exit or disp@saivities and supercedes EITF Issue

No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Teination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Ag¢yiyincluding Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” Statement 146 resgithat a liability for a cost associated with &i er disposal activity be recognized when
the liability is incurred. Under EITF Issue No. 94a liability for an exit cost as generally define EITF Issue No. 94-3 was recognized at
the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plBine provisions of Statement 146 are effectiveefat or disposal activities that are initiated
after December 31, 2002, with early applicationcemaged. We adopted Statement 146 effective J9Q2, and the adoption did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial gositor results from operations.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont inued)
Newly Issued Accounting Standards (continued)

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148¢ctfating for Stock-Based Compensation-Transitioth Risclosure,” which amends
SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 148 provides alternativehoes of transition for a voluntary change to thevalue-based method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation and ameadfigblosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to regmiore prominent and more
frequent disclosures in financial statements abmieffects of stock-based compensation. SFAS Hi®id effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years ending after December 0622and interim disclosure provisions are effexfiw financial reports containing financial
statements for interim periods beginning after Daoer 15, 2002. We have elected to account for dbasled compensation plans under the
intrinsic value-based method of accounting presctiby APB 25 that does not utilize the fair valuetinod. However, we have adopted the
disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, and wetdiothe additional disclosure requirements asifipgin SFAS 148 for the year-ended
December 31, 2002, as disclosed above and in Nlote 1

2. ACQUISITIONS

de’MEDICI SystemsOn January 26, 2001, we acquired substantidllyfahe assets of de’MEDICI Systems (“de’MEDICI3,business unit
of Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Inc., for approxnately $330,000 in cash and 181,250 shares of@unmn stock. de’MEDICI provided
computer based education and training to over 23pitals and healthcare organizations. The actrnsitas accounted for as a purchase.
Intangible assets acquired consisted of goodwilif@mer lists, and trade name of $600,000, $400 28D $100,000, respectively. As
discussed in Notes 1 and 6, amortization of goddwébk discontinued as of December 31, 2001. Thimitkefived intangibles, including
customer lists and trade name are being amortimedstraight-line basis over three years.

SynQuest Technologies, Ii@n September 18, 2000, we acquired substantidlbf #he assets of SynQuest Technologies, Inc.{Byest”)
for 787,087 shares of our common stock and assompficertain debt and other liabilities, $2.3 mill of which were repaid in connection
with the purchase transaction. SynQuest providdidetraining and education to hospitals and health organizations. The acquisition was
accounted for as a purchase. Intangible assetsradquonsisted of goodwill, content, and custorss lof $2.4 million, $2.0 million and
$500,000, respectively. As discussed in Notes l6armgnortization of goodwill was discontinued a®aefcember 31, 2001. The definite lived
intangibles, including content and customer liststaeing amortized on a straight-line basis overdlyears.

Education Design, IncOn July 1, 2000, we acquired substantially allhe&f &ssets of Education Design, Inc. (“EDI”) for@illion in cash
and 184,421 shares of our common stock. In addiipproximately $300,000 of cash and 31,216 sha&frear common stock were provided
to the employees of EDI, subject to certain redcstock award agreements. EDI provided servizebvie educational events that are
supported by the medical device industry. The aitjoin was accounted for as a purchase. Intangidets acquired consisted of goodwill,
content, customer lists, and a non-competitionemgent of $1.9 million, $1.5 million, $300,000, &it00,000, respectively. As discussed in
Notes 1 and 6, amortization of goodwill was disawntd as of December 31, 2001. The definite livedrigibles, including content, custon
lists and a non-competition agreement are beingtéad on a straight-line basis over five yearseé¢hyears and one year, respectively.

EMINet, Inc.On January 28, 2000, we acquired substantiallgfaie assets of Emergency Medicine Internetwark, ti/b/a EMInet

(“EMInet”) for $0.6 million in cash and 269,902 ska of our common stock. In addition, we issued@ Additional shares of our common
stock based on achievement of revenue goals sudisetquthe acquisition. EMInet sold approved onlimedical education content to
emergency medical services personnel. The acaunsitas accounted for as a purchase. Intangiblésaasguired consisted of goodwill and
customer lists of $2.8 million and $500,000, respety. As discussed in Notes 1 and 6, amortizatibgoodwill was discontinued as of
December 31, 2001. Customer lists are being anedrtin a straight-line basis over three years. [Qute three months ended September 30,
2002, certain stock held in escrow related to auclpase of EMInet, Inc. was distributed or otheewnistired. In connection with the

resolution of the escrowed shares, 85,625 sharesrafommon stock were retired. The retirement rgasrded based on the market value of
the shares on the date of retirement.
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2. ACQUISITIONS (continued)

m3 the Healthcare Learning Compa®@n January 28, 2000, we acquired substantiallgfdtie assets and liabilities of Multimedia
Marketing, Inc. d/b/a m3 the Healthcare Learningnpany (“m3”) for $600,000 in cash and 818,037 shafeour common stock. m3
provided interactive, multimedia education andnirag solutions to hospitals and other healthcagawizations. In connection with the
acquisition, we assumed $1.2 million of long-terebd The acquisition was accounted for as a puechatangible assets acquired consisted
of goodwill and customer lists of $8.4 million afd.0 million, respectively. As discussed in Noteentl 6, amortization of goodwill was
discontinued as of December 31, 2001. Customerdist being amortized on a straight-line basis three years.

Quick Study, IncOn January 11, 2000, we acquired substantiallgfalie assets and liabilities of Quick Study, IffQuick Study”) for
$59,000 in cash and 61,397 shares of our commahk.dwaddition, we issued 6,669 additional shafesommon stock based on achieven
of revenue goals subsequent to the acquisitiocommection with the acquisition, we assumed $0lliamiof long-term debt. Quick Study
published CD-ROM and netwothased products for the healthcare industry. Theisitipn was accounted for as a purchase. Intaagibet
acquired consisted of goodwill, customer lists, and-competition agreements of $600,000, $100,0@0$4.00,000, respectively. As
discussed in Notes 1 and 6, amortization of goddwak discontinued as of December 31, 2001. Thimitefived intangibles, including
customer lists and non-competition agreements eirgtamortized on a straight-line basis over tlamee two years, respectively.

KnowledgeReview, LL(On January 3, 2000, we acquired substantiallyfali@ assets of KnowledgeReview, LLC (d/b/a
“CMECourses.com”) for $310,000 in cash and 17,3#&as of our common stock. KnowledgeReview ownetlaperated an Internet Web
page that provided a search engine that helpedgifys locate continuing medical education by sggciand facilitated online registration
for such courses. The acquisition was accounteddar purchase. Intangible assets acquired cashsisgoodwill, customer lists and non-
competition agreements of $400,000, $40,000 andd$POrespectively. As discussed in Notes 1 arair@rtization of goodwill was
discontinued as of December 31, 2001. The defiiviéel intangibles, including customer lists and femmpetition agreements were amorti
on a straight-line basis over two years and sixthmmrespectively.

The results of operations are included in our faiainstatements from the date of acquisition.

The following unaudited results of operations gifect to the operations of the acquisitions disedsabove, except for the de’MEDICI
acquisition, as if the acquisitions had occurredfabe first day of the fiscal year immediatelypeding the year of acquisition. Because the
pro forma impact of the de’MEDICI acquisition wouldt have been material to the results presente20@l or 2000, the pro forma
disclosures do not include the impact of the de’NIEDacquisition. The pro forma results of operasi@o not purport to represent what our
results of operations would have been had suckddions in fact occurred at the beginning of thieqa presented or to project our results of
operations in any future period.

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Revenue $ 15,789,59 $ 13,503,00 $ 13,497,00
Net loss $(16,641,24) $(19,576,00) $(23,451,00)

Net loss per shar

Basic and dilutes $ (0.82) $ (0.9¢) $ (1.19

In accordance with Statement 128, escrowed shackaray shares subject to restrictions or vestiegeacluded from the weighted average
shares outstanding for purposes of calculatingasstper share since such shares are anti-diliweiscussed in Note 1, the adoption of
Statement 142 resulted in the discontinuation efaimortization of goodwill and other intangibleetsawith indefinite lives.
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3. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock

During the three months ended September 30, 2@0taic stock held in escrow related to our purcled€eMInet, Inc. was distributed or
otherwise retired. In connection with the resolntiof the escrowed shares, 85,625 shares of our oonstock were retired. The retirement
was recorded based on the market value of the Sbaréhe date of retirement.

During 2001, we repurchased 1,111,111 shares ofmumon stock from WebMD Corporation (“WebMD”) inrmnection with the
renegotiation of a previous agreement (See Note 15)

On April 14, 2000, we completed our IPO of 5,000,80ares of common stock for net proceeds of $3@l®n. On April 14, 2000, we
completed a private placement of 1,111,111 shdresromon stock to WebMD for net proceeds of $10illion. In addition, the

underwriters exercised a right to purchase 275za@tional shares of common stock in May 2000, Whesulted in additional gross
proceeds of $2.4 million. Upon consummation of O, all series A, B and C convertible preferreztktconverted by their terms into
7,131,153 shares of our common stock. In addita$il, 293,000 promissory note payable to Robertri&t,Br., our president, chief executive
officer and chairman, also converted into 553, Hdres of common stock. Also in connection withIfh®, we repurchased 6,074 shares of
common stock.

Preferred Stock

We are authorized to issue up to 10 million shafgweferred stock in one or more series, havirsgrétative voting powers, designations,
preferences, rights and qualifications, limitati@ngestrictions, and other terms as the Boardicéddors may fix in providing for the issuan
of such series, without any vote or action of thareholders. During 2000, all shares of prefertedkswere converted into common stock in
connection with our IPO. No additional shares @&ferred stock were issued in 2002 or 2001.

As previously discussed, upon consummation of B@, leach share of series A and B convertible petlestock was converted into our
common stock at the conversion rate of 4.28238eshafr common stock per share of series A and Bextible preferred stock. Each share of
series C convertible preferred stock was convertedour common stock at the conversion rate 06@148 shares of common stock per share
of series C convertible preferred stock.

Warrants

During February 2000, we entered into a fgaar Online Education Services Provider Agreemettt WCA that included providing a warre
to purchase 2,182,568 shares of our common stoak exercise price of $7.18 per share to CIS Hgklilnc. The warrant was exercisable
over a four year period. Under the terms of theagrent, HCA agreed to purchase a minimum of $1al@min services from us over the

term of the contract. Until September 2001, we dixed the fair value of the warrant ($8.8 millicag a reduction of revenues proportiona
over the term of the original agreement. The arpatiton fluctuated based on the revenues receiwsd fhis agreement.

Effective October 1, 2001 we revised the aboveaygent with HCA. The new four-year agreement, wigigtvides for a minimum of
$12.0 million in services, replaces the prior agrent that had approximately two and one half yeamgining. In addition, both parties
agreed to cancel the warrant held by CIS Holdifgs, As a result of the cancellation of the warravé no longer amortize the remaining ¢
of the warrant as a reduction of revenues. Dutiregyears ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, outuesevere reduced by the expense
related to this warrant totaling approximately 804000 and $992,000, respectively.

In connection with a distribution agreement durll®99, we provided a business partner with a wattaptirchase 245,032 shares of our
common stock at $4.06 per share. The warrantseekpitune 2009. The issuance of the warrants egsirtthe recognition of approximately
$748,000 of product development expense in 199%atbof the 1999 warrant has been exercised Becémber 31, 2002.
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4. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2@8®performed impairment assessments of our loraglassets including identifiable
intangibles with finite useful lives. We recordedpairment charges in our HCO business unit of apprately $105,000 and $712,000 dur
2002 and 2001, respectively. These impairment @sangre comprised of approximately $105,000 an® $00 during 2002 and 2001,
respectively, related to prepaid content developrfesss. These charges reflect the expectatiorttieatarrying value of the related content
exceeded the anticipated undiscounted cash flole tgenerated from the sale of the content. Thairater of the charge recorded in 200:
approximately $312,000 related to property and mgent that was no longer to be used in future dipera As a result, the carrying value of
the property and equipment held for sale was writtewn to its fair value, less estimated costeth and was included in other current assets
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheetsv@ae was determined based on bids received froralated third parties. The assets
held for sale were sold during January 2002 at/ocagrvalue.

5. INVESTMENTS IN MARKETABLE SECURITIES

At December 31, 2002, the fair value of investmémimarketable securities, which were all clasdifies available-for-sale, included the
following:

Amortized Cost Unrealized Losses Unrealized Gains Fair Value
Corporate debt securitii $ 9,841,00! $ — $ 80,90 $ 9,921,90
Foreign corporate debt securit 4,265,32. (2,557 33,43¢ 4,296,211
Secured corporate debt securit 921,21: — 13,74« 934,95¢
$15,027,53 $(2,557) $128,08° $15,153,07
| ] | |

At December 31, 2001, the fair value of investmémimarketable securities, which were all clasdifis available-for-sale, included the
following:

Amortized Cost Unrealized Losses Unrealized Gains Fair Value
Corporate debt securiti $14,755,58 $(53,40¢) $105,59: $14,807,77
Foreign corporate debt securit 4,812,25! (10,727 18,19: 4,819,72i
Secured corporate debt securit 1,763,00. — 19,58: 1,782,58
$21,330,84 $(64,129 $143,36¢ $21,410,08
| | | |

The maturities of the above debt securities at bes 31, 2002 are shown below:

Mature within one yee $12,087,00
Mature after one year but before two ye 3,066,06
Total debt securitie $15,153,07

|

6. GOODWILL

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢'FASB”) issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and @thintangible Assets” Statemen
142"). We adopted Statement 142 effective Janua®p@2. Statement 142 no longer permits amortinasfogoodwill and intangible assets
that have indefinite lives over a set period. Stetet 142 modifies the approach and timing for eatithg impairment of intangible assets, and
also requires that goodwill be tested for impairtranieast annually using a fair value methodhimyear of adoption, Statement 142 requires
a transitional goodwill impairment evaluation befpemed, which is comprised of a two-step procé@$e first step is a screen for potential
impairment, while the second step measures the atmidany, of impairment.

During the second quarter of 2002, we completedrtiresitional goodwill impairment evaluation readrby Statement 142. In performing
impairment evaluation, we estimated the fair vaifieur reporting units using a discounted cash flamodel. Upon completion of step one,
our analysis indicated that goodwill for the HCGsimess unit was impaired as of January 1, 2002edsired by the Statement, if step one
results in an impairment, step two must be perfarimeorder to measure the amount of impairment. S¢wnd step compares the implied



value of the affected reporting unit's goodwillite carrying value. We determined the implied faifue of the HCO business unit’'s goodwill
by allocating its fair value, as determined in st@p, to its assets and liabilities in a manneilamo a purchase price allocation in accord:
with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” Theasitional impairment loss recognized for the HC@arting unit totaled approximately
$5.0 million, and was recorded as a cumulativecef® a change in accounting principle in our cdidsded statement of operations as of
January 1, 2002.
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6. GOODWILL (continued )

The technique used to determine the fair valueuofreporting units is sensitive to estimates arsthiaptions associated with cash flow from
operations and its growth, discount rates, andrtigygpunit terminal values. If these estimateshairt related assumptions change in the fu
we may be required to record additional impairmararges, which could adversely impact our operatsglts for the period in which such a
determination is made. We perform our annual inmpairt evaluation of goodwill during the fourth qeardf each year and as changes in
and circumstances indicate impairment exists. Quoinr annual impairment evaluation in the fourtlager of 2002, the results of our
goodwill impairment analysis indicated the fairualof our reporting units exceeded their post ttemscarrying values. Therefore no

impairment existed at December 31, 2002.

A reconciliation of the net loss and net loss pers information for the years ended December 32222001 and 2000, adjusted for the
provisions of Statement 142, net of the relatedrime tax effect, follows:

Reported net los
Adjusted for amortization of goodwi
Adjusted for cumulative effect of a change in actting
principle

Adjusted net los

Basic and diluted net loss per sh
Reported net loss per she- basic and dilute:
Adjusted for amortization of goodwi
Adjusted for cumulative effect of a change in acttng
principle

Adjusted net loss per she- basic and dilute:

December 31,

2002

Years ended

December 31,

2001

December 31,
2000

$(16,641,24)

5,000,00t

$(11,641,24)

$ (0.82)

0.2t

$ (0.57)

$(19,575,92)
5,360,38i

$ (14,15,53)

$ (0.99)
0.2¢

$ 0.72)

$(20,285,30)
4,460,73

$(15,824,56)

$ (1.29)
0.2¢

$ (1.00)

The pro forma presentation above includes the itngfatthie one time gain on renegotiation of the W&bhfjreement during the year ended

December 31, 2001 (See Note 15).

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfer year ended December 31, 2002 are as follows:

HCO PMD Total

Balance at January 1, 20 $ 6,982,96. $1,323,72 $ 8,306,68!
Transitional impairment los (5,000,001 — (5,000,001
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 1,982,96. $1,323,72 $ 3,306,68!
| | |

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

All intangible assets have been evaluated in aeourel with Statement 142 and are considered tofiratesuseful lives. The intangibles are
being amortized over their original useful livesnging from one to five years. Amortization of imggble assets was approximately
$1,916,000, $2,080,000 and $1,173,000 for the yeaded December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, resplgctive

Identifiable intangible assets are comprised offtfiewing:

As of December 31, 2002
Accumulated

As of December 31, 2001
Accumulated

Gross Amount Amortization Net Gross Amount Amortization Net
Content $3,500,00! $(2,277,77) $1,222,22; $3,500,00! $(1,311,11) $2,188,88!
Customer list: 2,940,00! (2,612,22) 327,77¢ 2,940,001 (1,712,22) 1,227,77!
Other 422,14 (321,961) 100,17¢ 422,14 (272,34) 149,79¢



Total $6,862,14: $(5,211,96) $1,650,17  $6,862,14. $(3,295,67) $3,566,46
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Estimated amortization expense for the years endagember 31, is as follows:

2003 $1,139,82.
2004 343,99(
2005 166,36:
2006 —
2007 —
Total $1,650,17
|

8. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

We have two reportable segments, services provmedalthcare organizations and professionals (“H@@d services provided to
pharmaceutical and medical device companies (“PMDfg accounting policies of the segments aredheesas those described in Note 1,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” We nee and operate our business segments based martkets they serve and the
products and services provided to those marketsst8ntially all sales from both business unitsw2002 were made to customers in the
United States, while less than 1% of revenue fromHCO business unit were derived from custome@anada.

The following is our business segment informatisrohand for the years ended December 31, 2002@0d. We measure segment
performance based on the operating loss beforeriadaxes and prior to the allocation of corporaterlbead expenses, interest expense, and
substantially all depreciation.

Year ended December 31, 2002

HCO PMD Unallocated Consolidated

Revenues, ne¢ $9,748,52! $ 6,041,06! $ o $ 15,789,59
Cost of revenue 1,919,36: 3,688,47! 362,66: 5,970,49!
Product developmel 3,241,341 656,19! 781,27¢ 4,678,82
Sales and marketir 4,859,47 1,493,29! 72,25¢ 6,425,02!
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,280,59 480,91: 1,632,95 4,394,46
Other general and administrati 1,126,05: 945,97( 4,337,771 6,409,57!
Office consolidation charg 164,78: — — 164,78:
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 105,00( — — 105,00(
Segment loss from operatio $(3,948,08) $(1,223,56) $(7,186,92) $(12,358,57)
| | | |

*Segment asse $6,128,78! $ 5,985,37. $20,799,06 $32,913,21
.| .| .| I

Purchase of property and equipm $ 308,77¢ $ 177,39: $ 139,36: $ 625,53!
| | | |

Year ended December 31, 2001

HCO PMD Unallocated Consolidated

Revenues, net of warrant expel $ 7,957,71 $ 5,545,591 $ — $ 13,503,30
Cost of revenue 2,646,65. 3,021,41. 104,25¢ 5,772,32
Product developmel 2,688,84! 1,061,67! 1,289,88. 5,040,40
Sales and marketir 4,593,63. 1,295,65! 5,29( 5,894,58
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,215,93: 963,90 1,756,40:. 9,936,23
Other general and administrati 2,499,57! 911,25¢ 3,713,41! 7,124,24
Office consolidation charg 400,67¢ — — 400,67¢
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 400,00( — 312,34 712,34
Segment loss from operatio $(12,487,59) $(1,708,32) $(7,181,59) $(21,377,50)
I .| .| I

*Segment asse $ 15,617,96 $ 5,578,65! $28,050,02 $ 49,246,64
| | | |



Purchase of property and equipm $ 808,08 $ 429,04¢ $ 351,31 $ 1,588,44!

*Segment assets include restricted cash, accondtsrbilled receivables, prepaid and other curassets, other assets, property and
equipment, and intangible assets. Investments iketeble securities are not allocated to indivicsedments.
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8. BUSINESS SEGMENTS (continued)

Total loss from operations for the year ended Ddxmm31, 2001 includes goodwill amortization of #5816 for our HCO business unit and
$345,072 for our PMD business unit. Effective Jayuda 2002, goodwill amortization was discontinueda result of adopting new accoun
standards (See Note 6). The unallocated loss fipenations for the year ended December 31, 200idesl the gain of $1.5 million under the
caption “Other general and administrative” asseciatith the renegotiation of our agreement with WIBbCorporation, formerly
Healtheon/WebMD Corporation (See Note 15).

9. INCOME TAXES

Income tax benefit differs from the amounts comguig applying the federal statutory rate of 34%hi loss before income taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Tax benefit at the statutory re $(5,658,02) $(6,655,81) $(6,897,00)
State income tax benefit, net of federal ber (412,340 (592,10) (667,145
Nondeductible goodwil 2,108,001 1,588,34! 1,188,47.
Other 67,60: (215,50 (69,77¢)
Increase in valuation allowan 3,894,76! 5,875,07! 6,445,44:
$ — $ — $ —

| | |

Deferred federal and state income taxes reflech#iéax effects of temporary differences betwéencarrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane timounts used for income tax purposes. Significamiponents of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are as follows:

December 31,

2002 2001
Deferred tax asset

Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 112,42¢ $ 109,37:
Differences related to business combinati 1,533,92! 1,518,02
Depreciatior 63,02¢ —
Accrued liabilities 321,81 154,69¢
Deferred revenu — 40,70(
Difference related to warran 1,227,38: 1,227,38:
Research and development cre 152,76 90,94¢
Other 6,43¢ 6,40:
Net operating loss carryforwar 14,866,51 11,330,29
Total deferred tax asse 18,284,30 14,477,84
Less: Valuation allowanc (18,284,30) (14,389,54)
— 88,30(
Deferred tax liability- depreciatior — (88,300
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ —
| |

As of December 31, 2002 we had federal and statepezating loss carryforwards of $39,740,407 aB8,869,449. These losses will expire

in years 2012 through 2022. A portion of thesedegnay be subject to limitation in future years.

We have established a valuation allowance for defetax assets at December 31, 2002 and 2001pdbe tincertainty of realizing these
assets in the future. The valuation allowance ased $3,894,760 in 2002, $5,875,075 in 2001, apt#$6448 in 2000. No federal or state

income tax payments were made during the yearsdebdeember 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000.
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10. STOCK OPTION PLAN

Our 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (2000 Plan”) and4.&9nployee Stock Option Plan (“1994 Plan”) (the @®0an and the 1994 Plan are
collectively referred to as “the Plan”) authoribe grant of options to employees, officers, diresstand others and such grants must be
approved by the Compensation Committee of the BoaRirectors. In February 2000, we adopted the(2R&n. The terms of the 2000 Plan
are substantially similar to the 1994 Plan. Optigremted under the Plan have terms of no moretragears with certain restrictions. The
Plan allows the Board of Directors to determinewsting period of each grant. The vesting perioithe options granted ranges from
immediate vesting to four years. In connection wlith 2000 Plan, 5,000,000 shares have been resienvisguance, bringing the total shares
reserved for issuance through options to 9,000sb@des. During 2002, the 1994 Plan was amendexttode forfeited shares from shares
available for future grants. This amendment redubechumber of shares available for future gragt$,892,892.

The weighted average fair value of options gramtad estimated using the minimum value option pgeiodel in 2000 prior to our IPO and
the Black-Scholes method subsequent to our IPQpitil 2000. The assumptions used for these estiniathsde:

2002 2001 2000
Risk-free interest rat 4.2(% 4.2% 6.0%
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Expected life (in years 5 5 5
Volatility 60% 60% 60%

The estimated weighted average fair values of optgranted during 2002, 2001 and 2000 using theeapcing models were $0.75, $0.70
and $2.09, respectively.

A progression of activity and various other infotioa relative to stock options is presented inttige below.

2002 2001 2000
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Common Average Common Average Common Average
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstandin¢- beginning of periot 2,816,71 $4.17 3,125,731  $4.7: 2,470,22!  $2.8¢
Granted 570,00( 1.3¢€ 410,75( 1.2z 2,097,311 6.21
Exercisec — — (8,700 1.21 (801,99) 0.7t
Expired (50,049 4.54 (112,17)  8.67 — —
Forfeited (349,289 3.65 (598,89)  4.01 (639,809  7.3C
Outstandin¢- end of perioc 2,987,38l $3.6¢ 2,816,71  $4.11 3,125,73'  $4.7:
| | | | | |
Exercisable at end of peri 1,755,67! $4.0¢ 1,306,99: $4.1¢ 665,26. $4.51
| | | | |

During 2002, 2001, and 2000, we issued 11,500,06 &5d 27,254, respectively, stock options to aafgssional consulting boards at per
share exercise prices ranging from $1.80 in 20024in 2001, and $2.125 to $11.89 in 2000. In eation with these grants we recognized
expense of approximately $11,000 in 2002, $57,6@001, and $30,000 in 2000. During 2000, we atsatgd options to individuals for
services and recognized approximately $16,000 péesge in connection with these grants.

Shares of common stock available for future grahtsptions totaled 3,482,717 at December 31, 28@2rcise prices per share and various
other information for options outstanding at Decem®il, 2002 are segregated into ranges as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Average¢ Weighted Average
Number of Exercise Price Remaining Number of Exercise Price
Shares Per Share Contractual Life Shares Per Share
$ 054-% 1.19 324,80( $ 1.0¢ 6.€ 164,80( $ 1.07
$ 1.20-$ 2.38 1,300,28! 1.9 6.5 614,94¢ 2.14
$ 358 % 4.76 700,76: 4.0€ 4.7 554,58 4.0€
$ 4.77-$ 5.95 111,00( 5.4z 5.t 56,00( 5.4z



$ 5.96-% 7.13
$ 8.33-% 9.50
$ 9.51-$10.70
$10.71- $11.89

236,80(

85,44¢
101,75(
126,53«

2,987,38l

6.4¢
8.92
10.0C
11.8¢

$ 3.6¢

5.C
5.8
5.2
5.2

5.€

50

155,16! 6.4¢
85,44 8.92
50,87¢ 10.0¢
73,85¢ 11.8¢

1,755,67 $ 4.0¢
| |
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
401(k) Plan

We have a defined-contribution employee benefih ft401(k) Plan”) incorporating provisions of Sexti401(k) of the Internal Revenue
Code. Our employees must have attained the age af@ have completed thirty days of service toligghée to participate in the 401(k) Ple
Under the provisions of the 401(k) Plan, a plan lm&@nmay make contributions, on a tax-deferred basisto exceed 15% of compensation,
subject to IRS limitations. We have not providedchang contributions through December 31, 2002.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During 2000, we adopted an Employee Stock PurcREse(“Purchase Plan"yhich incorporates the provisions of Section 42&efinterne
Revenue Code. Under the Purchase Plan, 1,000,@0€ssbf common stock have been reserved for purdiyaemployees. The Purchase |
provides for annual offer periods of twelve montiheligible employees. Under the Purchase Plagibédi employees can purchase through
payroll deductions, the lesser of up to 15% ofrtkégible base compensation or 2,500 shares ofmmmstock, at a price equivalent to 85%
of the lesser of the beginning or end of year pigring 2002 and 2001, 35,770 and 53,606 shares prechased under the plan at an
average price per share of $1.06 and $1.06, resphrct

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitments

We lease office facilities in Nashville, TN, DallasX, Denver, CO, and Raleigh, NC under agreemiraisexpire before or during January
2007. The Dallas, TX facility is subleased to adtparty through the expiration of the originaldeawhich ends January 2007. We are
currently seeking to sublease the Raleigh, NCifgicivhich is currently not being used in operation

The Nashville, TN lease provides for two five-yeamewal options. Some lease agreements contaifsfmos for escalating rent payments
over the initial terms of the lease. We accountfiese leases by recognizing the straight-line egpénse and adjusting the deferred rent
expense liability for the difference between thraight-line rent expense and the amount of rerd.pelie Company also leases certain office
equipment under both operating and capital ledsesl rent expense under all operating leases ppoaimately $560,000, $605,000, and
$795,000, for the years ended December 31, 20@, 20hd 2000, respectively. We also lease certaimpater and office equipment and
office furnishings from various third parties acnted for as capital leases.

Future rental payment commitments at December @12 2inder capital and non-cancelable operatingtasith initial terms of one year or
more, are as follows:

Capital Leases Operating Leases
2003 $ 74,17¢ $ 675,43
2004 41,76¢ 511,73t
2005 1,212 212,14t
2006 — 35,48:
2007 — 2,53(
2008 (thereafter — —
Total minimum lease paymer $117,16( $1,437,33.
]
Less amounts representing intel (9,224
Present value of minimum lease payments (inclu@i@; 925 classified as curre! $107,93¢
|

Sublease rental income related to the Dallas, TXifiawas approximately $60,000 in 2002. Futureegiing lease commitments have been
reduced by sublease income of approximately $71iy72003, $65,800 in 2004, $65,300 in 2005, $65,8A0D06, and $5,400 in 2007.

The carrying value of assets under capital leagkigh are included with owned assets in the accoyipg consolidated balance sheets was
$45,091 and $182,712 at December 31, 2002 and 28§dectively. Amortization of the assets underciygital leases is included in
depreciation expense on the accompanying consetidaitements of operatiol
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12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Litigation

On November 17, 2000, a complaint was filed by @&magjer Corporation in the Circuit Court of Tennesg® the Thirtieth Judicial District at
Memphis against us, SynQuest and two individuateth@ders of SynQuest. The complaint assertedHbatthStream violated the terms of a
licensing agreement entered into between Healtatiand the plaintiff and that HealthStream allegéailed to pay royalties due to the
plaintiff pursuant to the terms of that agreem@&hge plaintiff also alleged that HealthStream indl8gnQuest to breach a marketing
agreement entered into between SynQuest and timtiflailternatively, the plaintiff alleged that #hlthStream, which purchased certain
assets of SynQuest, was liable for SynQuesiieged breach of the marketing agreement putrsodhe legal theory of successor liability. T
aggregate damages alleged totaled approximatelyriflion. The lawsuit was settled on March 28, 20The principal terms included a
payment of $100,000 to Challenger and a licensearket and distribute HealthStream’s Core Currigulive lecture series content in

electronic format. The $100,000 payment was madeil 2002.

We are subject to various other legal proceedingscéaims that arise in the ordinary course oflmusiness. In the opinion of management,
the ultimate liability with respect to those prodiewys and claims will not materially affect ourdincial position, operations or liquidity.

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted net loss per share:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Numerator:

Net loss $(16,641,24) $(19,575,92) $(20,285,30)
| | I

Denominator
Weightec-average shares outstand 20,261,06. 19,920,52 115,785,94
I I L]
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ (0.82) $ (0.9¢) $ (1.29
| | I

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, a0} #te calculation of weighted average and egeivtadhares excluded options, warrg
restricted stock and convertible preferred stoatabse such items were anti-dilutive. The equivatemimon shares related to such options,
warrants, restricted stock and preferred stock \Bg2é6,544 in 2002, 3,238,311 in 2001 and 6,522i0&%00.

14. OFFICE CONSOLIDATION CHARGE

During 2002 and 2001, we recorded office consdlidatharges for our HCO business unit of approxaiya$165,000 and $401,000,
respectively, as a result of closure of our Ralgidgilas, and Boston offices. The charges in 2@0sisted of lease obligations of
approximately $165,000. The charges in 2001 catsist lease obligations of approximately $245,000 impairment of certain fixed assets
of approximately $156,000. We recorded a liabildy such charges and the expenses are included theleaption “office consolidation
charge” on the accompanying consolidated statenoémigerations. As of December 31, 2002 we have gpproximately $154,000 in lease
obligations and charged approximately $156,000¢orécorded liability for the disposal of fixed etss At December 31, 2002, the remaining
balance of accrued liabilities associated with ehgsarges was approximately $255,000.
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15. STRATEGIC ALLIANCES

We periodically enter into strategic alliances witintent and distribution partners, developmentngas, and other business partners.
Typically, these arrangements provide for paymemteese partners based on either a percentageeiues, hours of courseware developed,
or based on a fixed payment schedule.

In November 2002, we entered into an agreementavithsiness partner to develop certain coursesogmavide telemarketing services. The
agreement provides for minimum payments of $130/23&d on the delivery of an initial 20 online &g In addition, we will pay our
partner royalties associated with sales of suchecn

In October 2002, we entered into an agreementavitther business partner to provide us with telketang services over a two year period.
In exchange for these services, we will provideiaimmum quarterly payment of $60,625 over the twanterm of the agreement.

In February 2000, we entered into a five-year agesd with WebMD. The agreement provided that weldite the exclusive provider of
education, continuing education and training sewior all healthcare organizations, healthcaréepgeionals and healthcare workers on all
Web sites owned or operated by WebMD in exchangeddain guaranteed payments. WebMD also purchdsed million of our common
stock in a private sale that closed concurrent withIPO. During 2000, we expensed and paid Webbalties of $1.5 million. At
December 31, 2000, the accompanying consolidatieash@@ sheet included accrued and unpaid royakiased to this agreement of $1.5
million. On January 5, 2001, we terminated the pagreement with WebMD and set forth a new busiaessigement. Under the new, non-
exclusive three-year agreement, we are a prefen@dder of continuing medical education, contirgigducation and board preparation
courses for WebMD» professional portal. Under this arrangementniife consideration is based entirely on revenge®ated from the si
of HealthStream'’s services to WebMD'’s professigratal customers.

In connection with this renegotiation, we gave Wé&bMe right to sell shares purchased in a priviferiag back to us at any time through
March 30, 2001. On February 8, 2001, WebMD exedciteright to sell the 1.1 million shares of ownmumon stock back to us at $1.7833 per
share. We reacquired the shares on February 1&, B®8onnection with the termination of the pfidebMD agreement, we recognized a
gain of $1.5 million as a reduction of other geharal administrative expense, representing thersavef the scheduled $1.5 million fixed
payment that was accrued at December 31, 2000.

We also entered into a development agreement imadar2000 with a private company under which wel 85,000 and paid the entity
another $400,000 during 2000 as courses were deeldn connection with this agreement, we receave@rrant to purchase 223,834 sh

of the entity’'s common stock at an exercise pricd4047 per share. Because the development semwieesprovided at market rates, no value
has been ascribed to the warrant.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéunting and Financial Disclosure
None.
PART IlI
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information as to directors of the Company is ipooated by reference from the information contaimedur proxy statement for the 2003
Annual Meeting of Stockholders that we will filettvithe Securities and Exchange Commission withihdays of the end of the fiscal yeal
which this report relates. Pursuant to Generalliesibn G(3), certain information concerning ex@oeibfficers of the Company is included
Part | of this Form 10-K, under the caption “ExéeatOfficers.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Incorporated by reference from the information eamed in our proxy statement for the 2003 AnnuaéMey of Stockholders that we will fi
with the Securities and Exchange Commission witt#ii days of the end of the fiscal year to whichk teport relates.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiinagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Incorporated by reference from the information eamgd in our proxy statement for the 2003 Annuaétifey of Stockholders that we will fi
with the Securities and Exchange Commission witt#ii days of the end of the fiscal year to whick teport relates.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Incorporated by reference from the information eamd in our proxy statement for the 2003 Annuaétifey of Stockholders that we will fi
with the Securities and Exchange Commission witt#ii days of the end of the fiscal year to whick teport relates.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures

HealthStream’s chief executive officer and chiefficial officer have reviewed and evaluated thectiffeness of HealthStream’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdrAitts 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c)) as of a date wiinlays before the filing date of this
annual report. Based on that evaluation, the axetutive officer and chief financial officer hamencluded that HealthStream’s disclosure
controls and procedures effectively and timely jfexthem with material information relating to H&tream and its consolidated
subsidiaries required to be disclosed in the regdealthStream files or submits under the ExchaugeThere have not been any significant
changes in HealthStream'’s internal controls orthepfactors that could significantly affect thesmtrols subsequent to the date of their
evaluation. There were no significant deficien@esnaterial weaknesses identified, and thereforeamgective actions were taken.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reoon Form 8-K

(&) (1) Financial Statemer
Reference is made to the financial statementsdieclun Item 8 to this Report on Form-K.
(&) (2) Financial Statement Schedt

All schedules are omitted because they are nuicale or the required information is shown ie thonsolidated Financial
Statements or the notes there

(@) (3) Exhibits

Number Description

*2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 23, 1999, g@@®iverPlatter Education, Inc., SilverPlatter Imf@tion, Inc. and
HealthStream, Inc

*2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 5,,2800ng HealthStream, Inc., HealthStream Acquisitjdnc., Quick Study,
Inc. and each shareholder of Quick Study,

*2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 16, 488%g KnowledgeReview, LLC, Louis Bucelli and MakdRepik, and
HealthStream, Inc

*2.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 25) 2@tbong HealthStream, Inc., HealthStream Acquisitipinc., Multimedia
Marketing, Inc., and the stockholders of Multimeiarketing, Inc.

*2.5 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated January 27, 2880@eén Emergency Medicine Internetwork, Inc. andlti&tream, Inc

*3.1 Form of Fourth Amended and Restated Charter oftH8&kam, Inc

*3.2 Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of HealthStréam

*4.1 Form of certificate representing the common stockpar value per share, of HealthStream,

4.2 Article 7 of the Fourth Amended and Restated Chhi— included in Exhibit 3.:

4.3 Article 1l of the Amended and Restated Byla— included in Exhibit 3.:

*4.4 Warrant to purchase common stock of HealthStream, tlated June 14, 1999, held by GE Medical Syst

*4.6 Common Stock Purchase Agreement between HealtmSttaa. and Healtheon/WebMD Corporati

*10.1 1994 Employee Stock Option Plan, effective as ofilAb, 1994

*10.2 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of Apri] 2000

*10.3 Form of Indemnification Agreeme

*10.4 Executive Employment Agreement, dated April 21,9,98%tween HealthStream, Inc. and Robert A. Fiis

*10.5 Lease dated March 27, 1995, as amended June 6 ah89September 22, 1998, between Cummins Stati@) ak landlord, and
NewOrder Media, Inc., as tene

*+10.6 Development and Distribution Agreement between th&iteam, Inc. and GE Medical Syste

*+10.7 Education Services Provider Agreement dated Octbp2001 between HealthStream, Inc. and HCA Infaéional echnology &
Services, Inc

*10.8 Form of Employee Stock Purchase F

*21.1 Subsidiaries of HealthStream, It



23.1 Consent of Independent Auditc

99.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sect1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of thiea®ai-Oxley Act of 200z
99.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z
+ Confidential treatment was received, with respeddrtain portions of this document. Such portieese omitted and filed

separately with the Securities and Exchange Conimnis
* Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Registration Statement on For-1 (Reg. No. 33-88939).
n Management contract or compensatory plan or arraagt
(b) Reports on Form-K

None
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized on this 26th day of March 2003.

HEALTHSTREAM, INC.

By: /s/ Robert A. Frist, Ji

Robert A. Frist, Jr.
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datlisdted:

Signature Title(s) Date

/s/ Robert A. Frist, Jr. President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman March 26, 2003
(Principal Executive Officer)

Robert A. Frist, Jr

/s/ Arthur E. Newman Senior Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer March 26, 2003
(Principal Financial Officer)

Arthur E. Newmar

/sl Susan A. Brownie Vice President of Finance and Corporate Controller March 26, 2003
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Susan A. Brownit

/sl Jeffrey L. McLaren Vice Chairman March 26, 2003

Jeffrey L. McLarer

/sl John Dayani Director March 26, 2003
John Dayan
/sl James Daniell Director March 26, 2003

James Danie

/s/ William Stead Director March 26, 2003
William Stead
/sl M. Fazle Husain Director March 26, 2003

M. Fazle Husair

/sl Thompson Dent Director March 26, 2003

Thompson Den

/s/ Charles N. Martin Director March 26, 2003

Charles N. Matrtir

/s/ Linda Rebrovick Director March 26, 2003

Linda Rebrovick

/sl FRANK GORDON Director March 26, 2003



Frank Gordor
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CERTIFICATION
I, Robert A. Frist, Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Fof¥Klof HealthStream, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual repagsdwt contain any untrue statement of a matex@ldr omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statésjeand other financial information included ifsthnnual report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this an
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdahare responsible for establishing and maintgmiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-1#jhe registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controlspndedures to ensure that material informatiortiredao the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to usthgre within those entities, particularly during theriod in which this annual repor
being preparec

b) evaluated the effectiveness of thésteant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a d#été@0 days prior to the filing da
of this annual report (th*Evaluation Dat"); and

C) presented in this annual report ourctigsions about the effectiveness of the disclosardrols and procedures based on our
evaluation as of the Evaluation Da

5. The registrant’s other certifying officerdahhave disclosed, based on our most recent eti@hl&o the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (orsoms performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in thesdg or operation of internal controls which coattirersely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financia datl have identified for the registrant’s audiegmmg material weaknesses in internal
controls; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not materiahttimvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant’s
internal controls; an

6. The reg|strant s other certifying officerdahhave indicated in this annual report whethenatrthere were significant changes in internal
controls or in other factors that could signifidgreffect internal controls subsequent to the dditeur most recent evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant defitcies and material weaknesses.

/s/ Robert A. Frist, Jr.

Robert A. Frist, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
March 26, 200:
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CERTIFICATION
[, Arthur E. Newman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Fof¥Klof HealthStream, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual repagsdwt contain any untrue statement of a matex@ldr omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statésjeand other financial information included ifsthnnual report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods presented in this an
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdahare responsible for establishing and maintgmiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-1#jhe registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controlspndedures to ensure that material informatiortiredao the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to usthgre within those entities, particularly during theriod in which this annual repor
being preparec

b) evaluated the effectiveness of thésteant's disclosure controls and procedures as of a d#été@0 days prior to the filing da
of this annual report (th*Evaluation Dat"); and

C) presented in this annual report ourctigsions about the effectiveness of the disclosardrols and procedures based on our
evaluation as of the Evaluation Da

5. The registrant’s other certifying officerdahhave disclosed, based on our most recent eti@hl&o the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (orsoms performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in thesdg or operation of internal controls which coattirersely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financia datl have identified for the registrant’s audiegmmg material weaknesses in internal
controls; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not materiahttimvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant’s
internal controls; an

6. The reg|strant s other certifying officerdahhave indicated in this annual report whethenatrthere were significant changes in internal
controls or in other factors that could signifidgreffect internal controls subsequent to the dditeur most recent evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant defitcies and material weaknesses.

/s/ Arthur E. Newman

Arthur E. Newman
Chief Financial Officer
March 26, 200:
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description

*2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 23, 1999, @®iverPlatter Education, Inc., SilverPlatter Imf@tion, Inc. and
HealthStream, Inc

*2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 5,,2800ng HealthStream, Inc., HealthStream Acquisitidnc., Quick Study,
Inc. and each shareholder of Quick Study,

*2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 16, a888)g KnowledgeReview, LLC, Louis Bucelli and Makdrepik, and
HealthStream, Inc

*2.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 25) 2étbong HealthStream, Inc., HealthStream Acquisitipinc., Multimedia
Marketing, Inc., and the stockholders of MultimeMarketing, Inc.

*2.5 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated January 27, 2680Gedn Emergency Medicine Internetwork, Inc. andlthi&tream, Inc

*3.1 Form of Fourth Amended and Restated Charter oftH8&kam, Inc

*3.2 Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of HealthStréam

*4.1 Form of certificate representing the common stockpar value per share, of HealthStream,

4.2 Article 7 of the Fourth Amended and Restated Chi— included in Exhibit 3.:

4.3 Article 1l of the Amended and Restated Byla— included in Exhibit 3.

*4.4 Warrant to purchase common stock of HealthStream, tlated June 14, 1999, held by GE Medical Syst

*4.6 Common Stock Purchase Agreement between HealtmSttea. and Healtheon/WebMD Corporati

*10.1 1994 Employee Stock Option Plan, effective as ofil&b, 1994

*10.2 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of Apri] 2000

*10.3 Form of Indemnification Agreeme

*10.4 Executive Employment Agreement, dated April 21,9,98%etween HealthStream, Inc. and Robert A. Fiis

*10.5 Lease dated March 27, 1995, as amended June 6 ah89SGeptember 22, 1998, between Cummins Stati@ ak landlord, and
NewOrder Media, Inc., as tene

*+10.6 Development and Distribution Agreement between th&ifeam, Inc. and GE Medical Syste

*+10.7 Education Services Provider Agreement dated Octbp2001 between HealthStream, Inc. and HCA Infaional echnology &
Systems, Inc

*10.8 Form of Employee Stock Purchase F

*21.1 Subsidiaries of HealthStream, It

23.1 Consent of Independent Auditc

99.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z

99.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z

+ Confidential treatment was received with respedeidain portions of this document. Such portioeseromitted and filed

separately with the Securities and Exchange Conimnis
Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Registration Statement on For-1 (Reg. No. 33-88939).

Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-3744@ppeng to the (1) HealthStream, Inc.
1994 Employee Stock Option Plan; (2) HealthStrelaa, 2000 Stock Incentive Plan; and (3) HealthStrelac. Employee Stock Purchase

Plan, of our report dated February 12, 2003, wapect to the consolidated financial statemenkseaithStream, Inc. included in the Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Decembe2802.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Nashvi |l e, Tennessee
March 25, 2003
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EXHIBIT 99.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of HealthSinednc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the yeadimg December 31, 2002, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the "Report"), Robert A. Frist, Jhje® Executive Officer of the Company
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dapted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExajeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphlgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/'s/ ROBERT A. FRIST, JR

Robert A. Frist, Jr.
Chi ef Executive Oficer
March 26, 2003

61



EXHIBIT 99.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of HealthSinednc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the yeadimg December 31, 2002, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the "Report"), Arthur E. Newman, Cligfancial Officer of the Company
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,dapted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExajeAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphlgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl ARTHUR E. NEWAN

Arthur E. Newman
Chi ef Financial Oficer
March 26, 2003
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